

Notice is given that an ordinary meeting of the Motueka Community Board will be held on:

Date: Tuesday 18 July 2017

Time: 4.00 pm

Meeting Room: Motueka Office Venue: 7 Hickmott Place

Motueka

# Motueka Community Board AGENDA

#### **MEMBERSHIP**

ChairpersonB MaruDeputy ChairpersonR HorrellMembersC Hutt

B Dowler

Cr P L Canton Cr P H Hawkes Cr D J Ogilvie

(Quorum 4 members)

Contact Telephone: 03 528 2015 Email: heather.spiers@tasman.govt.nz

Website: www.tasman.govt.nz

## **AGENDA**

## 1 OPENING, WELCOME

### 2 APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Recommendation
That apologies be accepted.

- 3 PUBLIC FORUM
- 4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
- 5 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

That the minutes of the Motueka Community Board meeting held on Tuesday, 20 June 2017, be confirmed as a true and correct record of the meeting.

#### **6 PRESENTATIONS**

Nil

## 7 REPORTS

	7.1	Chairman's Report	5
		Reserve Financial Contributions	
	7.3	Amendment of Motueka Community Board Standing Orders to enable Youth Council representative attendance at meetings	17
	7.4	Financial Report	95
	7.5	Action List	99
	7.6	Special Projects Action Sheet	111
8	COR	RESPONDENCE	
	8.1	Correspondence	117

## 7 REPORTS

## 7.1 CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

## Information Only - No Decision Required

**Report To:** Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Brent Maru, Chairman, Motueka Community Board

Report Number: RMCB17-07-01

## 1 Summary

1.1 This is the Chairman's regular monthly report.

## 2 Draft Resolution

That the Motueka Community Board receives the Chairman's Report RMCB17-07-01.

## 3 Summary

3.1 This is the Motueka Community Board Chair's regular meeting report.

#### 4 Storm water

4.1 For the second time in consecutive months, I would like to congratulate our three local ward Councillors and the Tasman District Council for their decision to bring forward the funding for the Poole Street Storm water upgrade.

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board notes and acknowledges the decision.

## 5 Policing

5.1 I have replied to Inspector Matt Arnold-Kelly who will join us for the August Motueka Community Board meeting with an update on Policing in the Motueka Ward.

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board to Note.

## 6 Public Toilets (Board Member Hutt)

6.1 The Pah Street toilets are to be upgraded in Spring when the weather warms up.

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board Member Hutt continues to work with the Reserves and Facilities team to upgrade the Pah Street toilets.

## 7 Motueka Library

- 7.1 I have responded to the Community Development Manager, Susan Edwards, regarding my availability for the Motueka Library working group.
- 7.2 Congratulations to the Motueka Library on celebrating its' 160<sup>th</sup> birthday last month. The birthday celebrations provided some great history of Library services in Motueka through the various speakers and those attending were treated to some talented young musicians from Motueka High School.

## **Recommended Action:**

Board to note.

## 8 NZTA High Street Investigation

8.1 The Motueka Community Board has submitted their DRAFT submission to New Zealand Transport Authority (NZTA), which we will formally ratify at today's meeting. Correspondence is attached.

#### **Recommended Action:**

The Board to formally ratify the DRAFT submission to the NZTA on the High Street Investigation.

## 9 Youth Engagement

- 9.1 I have written to the Motueka Cluster of the Tasman Youth Council thanking them for their presentation at last month's meeting. (Correspondence attached).
- 9.2 It is a pleasure to now welcome Tasman Youth Council representatives to the table.

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board updated and notes.

## 10 Motueka Community Board Special Projects

- 10.1 Discussions on the Motueka Community Board's Special Projects will take place at the July meeting.
- 10.2 Motueka Community Board members to note the attached spreadsheet detailing current projects and those that I have been made aware of to date.
- 10.3 Can Board members please think about additional projects, which are to be added to the list for shortlisting.

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board to discuss and compile Special Projects list.

## 11 Motueka Fire Service – Tanker Commissioning

11.1 Cr Canton and I attended the commissioning of the new Motueka Fire Service Tanker on 24 June. This was a major community undertaking through strong leadership from the Motueka Fire Brigade. I have followed up with a letter of acknowledgement to the Brigade. (See Correspondence).

#### **Recommended Action:**

Board to note.

#### 12 Items from Board Members

12.1 Board members are invited to provide any updates of interest or raise any other matters at this meeting.

## 13 Discussions from Public Forum

13.1 The Board will discuss issues raised in Public Forum.

#### 14 Attachments

Motueka Community Board's Submission to NZTA Motueka Investigation

9

#### NZTA SUBMISSION - MOTUEKA INVESTIGATION

1. Aside from the problems we have outlined, please advise us if there are any other problems along High Street that you would like to be considered;

The Motueka Community Board agree with the identified problems on High Street;

- Location and visibility of pedestrian crossings
- Variable travel times and congestions with severe congestion experienced between December and January, and high levels of congestions throughout November to March.
- Access onto High Street from Old Wharf / King Edward Street, Pah and Greenwood Street and to a lesser degree Parker and Fearon.
- Poor layout resulting in risk-taking and safety concerns, in particular the right turning on and off of High Street in heavy traffic flows.

In addition we would like to highlight;

- The demand for car parking on High Street and the limited available "off street" car parking.
- The location of and type of trees adjacent the existing pedestrian crossings.
- Uncontrolled pedestrian access across High Street.
- 2. Looking at the proposed options in the town centre between Tudor and Parker/Fearon Streets, would you prefer option 1, option 2, option 3? Please explain your choice.

In discussing the proposed options we see that a revised Option 3 addresses the identified problems with the removal of the "right turning bay" into Wallace Street, unless realignment at Wallace Street intersection can create sufficient space to allow for right turning without the loss of any car park on High Street.

The signals at both Tudor / High and Pah, Greenwood / High will control the right turning both off and onto High Street at these key intersections and also in conjunction with the pedestrian signals located adjacent to Westpac bank will allow for controlled pedestrian crossing of High Street. The controlling of pedestrian crossing across High Street will significantly reduce traffic interruption and allow for a controlled flow. The signal control of the key feeding intersections (Tudor and Pah) we believe will minimise vehicle incidents where vehicles currently take a high risk to attempt to move within a perceived gap in traffic flow.

The loss of car parking on High Street is an important consideration and we DO NOT support the right hand turning bay into Wallace Street as this would remove seven vital car parks on High Street. To assist we propose that signage is installed at the Tudor Street intersection directing tourist traffic down Tudor, Wilkinson Street to the I-Site.

In addition we see the installation of a round-about at Old Wharf / King Edward / High Street all part of the wider solution for High Street as well as the installation of a round-about at Whakarewa / Woodlands / High Street.

## 3. How significant do you think the parking loss is for your preferred option?

The loss of car parking is a very significant factor.

In considering the modified Option 3 we propose the retaining of the 7 western car parks between Wallace and Tudor Street that would be lost if the Wallace Street right hand turning bay was installed.

We believe that the gains from the improvements to both safety and traffic flow outweigh the identified loss of the other carparks (10) on High Street and the car parks in Tudor / Greenwood and Pah Streets. We do need to recognise that this could have an economic effect on in particular the Post Office Hotel and Countdown Motueka.

## 4. Do you support the other proposal along High Street?

We see the proposed round-about at Old Wharf/ King Edward / High Street and Whakarewa / Woodlands / High Street as an essential component to improve High Street transport safety and flow.

We support the minor improvement option for Fearon / Parker / High Street.

We do not support the reduction to 40km/hr speed limit between Whakarewa / Poole Streets as we believe that the average measured speed along this section is 35km/hr and with the addition of traffic signals we believe sufficient controls will be in place.

We encourage measures to encourage off street parking but highlight that this is limited and often at capacity. Note the strong suggestion to encourage access to Decks Reserve via Tudor Street signal controlled intersection.

# 5. Are there any additional improvements you believe should be considered on High Street? Please detail below;

We acknowledge the work undertaken by NZTA and the findings detailed in the SH60 Motueka Investigation, June 2017 report and agree with the identified issues and challenges highlighted in this document.

A question arose through our discussions if in fact the location of the current I-Site is appropriate and the future need to right turn into Wallace Street but we believe if by deleting the right turning bay at Wallace Street did create congestion issues future reconsideration through the minor works programme could close access to Wallace Street from High, but propose to trial the use of signage at the Tudor Street intersection to attempt to re-route I-Site traffic along Tudor / Wilkinson Street.

Longer term the ongoing discussion about a heavy vehicle bypass and realigned Motueka Bridge must stay in the longer term planning for SH60.

#### 6. Tell us about yourself:

This submission is made on behalf of the Motueka Community Board by the Board Chair after consultation with Board members. The content represents the view of the Board, however we will need to formally ratify this submission at our July 2017 meeting.

**Brent Maru** 

Motueka Community Board Chair

#### 7.2 RESERVE FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

**Decision Required** 

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Beryl Wilkes, Reserves and Facilities Manager

Report Number: RMCB17-07-02

## **Summary**

- 1.1 This report provides an update on:
  - the current status of the Motueka Ward's Reserve Financial Contributions (RFC's) accounts;
  - and discusses the projects for the upcoming Annual Plan 2017/2018;
- 1.2 The RFC accounts are made up of funds received from subdivision levies and large resource consent levies.
- 1.3 The funds received in the Motueka Ward stay in the Ward to be used for the purchase of land for reserves and capital improvements to reserves and facilities.

## 2 Draft Resolution

## That the Motueka Community Board

- 1. receives the Reserve Financial Contributions report RMCB17-07-02; and
- 2. approves the removal of \$30,000.00 from the Land Purchase budget from the Motueka Ward Reserve Financial Contributions projects proposed in the Annual Plan 2017/2018 for that financial year; and
- 3. deletes the following projects from the work programme:

•	 :
•	;

## 3 Purpose of the Report

3.1 This report is to provide an update on the status of the Motueka Ward's Reserve Financial Contributions (RFC's) accounts and projects for the 2017/2018 financial year.

## 4 Background and Discussion

4.1 The table below outlines the last year and current year's budgets and projects.

Account	Items for discussion	Total Budget 2016/2017	YTD Actuals 2016/2017	Budget LTP 2017/18
RFC LEVIES - MOTUEKA		-268,625	-288.778	-279,040
Closed Account Interest		-4,468	-21,576	-42,005
Total Income		-273,093	-310,354	-321,045
Expense				
VALUATION FEES		6,264	5,800	6,455
MUSEUM	24,000 Carried fwd from previous years no longer required	24,000	0	0
Motueka - Landscape Work	Retain	15,000	0	0
WW Tapu/Stephens	Work continuing	30,000	0	0
Cemeteries	Irrigation upgrade	14,479	0	0
Picnic General	Shade sales	9,000	0	0
Garden Goodman Pond	Work continuing	1,612	0	0
Mot Lib Invest & Concept Plans	For Feasibility Study	25,000	0	0
KEEP MOT BEAUTIFUL	441	10,441	5,676	10,000
CLOCK TOWER TRUST	309	7,309	7,000	7,000
Riwaka Rugby Ground (DSIR)	Waiting for R/C consent	14,500	0	0
RFC's TRSF TO DISTRICTWIDE		17,194	0	17,735
Community Projects Mot Garden Artwork 20,000 Motueka Historic Wharf Repair 48,000 Toilet general 20,000	Funding required for community projects	88,000	0	26,922 Toilets General
Walkways General	Retain	15,637	2,129	10,769
Walkways Gen -	Retain	33,179	0	0
Purchase New Reserve	Includes funds for Sportspark Motueka	348,750	0	161,533
COASTCARE	Some carried fwd from previous years	35,676	0	18,254
Motueka Quay Carpark/Landscaping	Work to continue later in the year	50,000	0	0
Sportsfields General	Retain	52,122	0	26,922
Picnic Area/Gardens General	Retain	20,654	0	10,769
Playgrounds General	For Newhaven Cres Res, Marahau and Nga Piko Place Res	137,075	1,809	43,076
Sportspark - New Field development	Carried fwd for this project	137,216	0	0
Total		1,093,108	22,414	339,435

- 4.2 The projects listed for the 2017/2018 financial year are already in the Annual Plan.
- 4.3 Due to the difficulty of predicting the future income for the RFC's accounts from proposed subdivisions, the income in the year it is received is retained and allocated to capital projects in the year following. We will then be allocating a known amount of funding and not anticipating funding before it is received.
- 4.4 This amount is generally what is allocated unfortunately there is a current shortfall of approximately \$30,000.00 between the income for the 2016/2017 financial year and the proposed expenditure in the 2017/208 year. The chart at 4.1 highlights the Land Purchase budget as one area that could be reduced to fit the budget.
- 4.5 Each year we request any unspent allocated funds be carried forward into the following financial year, this is another area the Board could discuss and see if they would like to reduce the budget that way. Staff resources and timing may not allow for all of the projects to be completed, again the Board may decide that the funds are not carried forward.

## 5 Options

5.1 The options for the RFC's account in the 2017/2018 financial year are:

**Option One** – Agree to the proposed project list for the 2017/2018 financial year unchanged.

**Option Two** – Trim the 2017/2018 financial year budget for Land Purchase by \$30,000.00 to match the income from the 2016/2017 financial year. This is the **recommended** option.

**Option Three** – Remove \$30,000 from the 2016/2017 financial year budget projects being carried forward from the 2016/2017 financial year into the 2017/2018 year.

## 6 Strategy and Risks

- 6.1 There is a risk that all the project work will not be able to be undertaken due to:
  - lack of staff capacity to complete all the projects;
  - land purchase timing being difficult to predict.
- 6.2 The work plan aligns with the Council's strategic direction in terms of the provision of high quality customer services and some projects involve strong partnerships and relationships with other organisations (e.g. Keep Motueka Beautiful).

## Policy / Legal Requirements / Plan

- 7.1 Strict criteria apply to the use of RFC's with use being in the main restricted to:
  - land purchase for reserves;
  - capital improvements to reserves; and
  - other capital works for recreation activities.

## **3 Consideration of Financial or Budgetary Implications**

- 8.1 Due to the difficulty of predicting the future income for the RFC's accounts from proposed subdivisions, the income in the year it is received is retained and allocated to capital projects in the year following. We will then be allocating a known amount of funding and not anticipating funding before it is received.
- 8.2 The opening balance at 1 July 2016 for the Motueka Ward RFC account was \$1,005,460.00. To date the income is \$310,354.00 made up of interest earned and \$288,788 of RFC income of an anticipated \$268,625.00.
- 8.3 The current proposed project list for the 2017/2018 financial year amounts to \$339,435.00. If the income does not increase, the list may need to be reviewed. (Please note these are not year-end figures I hope to have those for the meeting).
- 8.4 The list (in item 4.1) of proposed projects for the 2017/2018 financial year incorporates the project list for this financial year and the actual money spent to date on these items.

## 9 Significance and Engagement

9.1 The decision I am asking the Board to make is to remove \$30,000 from the Land Purchase budget in the 2017/2018 year. My views is that the decision is of low significance, given that it is likely to have little public interest and that there is sufficient funding carried forward from the 2016/2017 year to enable moderate and high priority projects to be completed.

Issue	Level of Significance	Explanation of Assessment
Is there a high level of public interest, or is decision likely to be controversial?	Low	The projects carried out are of an interest to the Motueka Community some will be of more interest than others and it would often depend on the value of the project or how it would affect local residents directly.
Is there a significant impact arising from duration of the effects from the decision?	Low	
Does the decision relate to a strategic asset? (refer Significance and Engagement Policy for list of strategic assets)	No	
Does the decision create a substantial change in the level of service provided by Council?	No	

Does the proposal, activity or decision substantially affect debt, rates or Council finances in any one year or more of the LTP?	Low	Capital costs of projects charged to RFC so do not impact on rates.
Does the decision involve the sale of a substantial proportion or controlling interest in a CCO or CCTO?	No	
Does the proposal or decision involve entry into a private sector partnership or contract to carry out the deliver on any Council group of activities?	No	
Does the proposal or decision involve Council exiting from or entering into a group of activities?	No	

## 10 Conclusion

- 10.1 The RFC accounts are used to provide capital funding for Reserves and Facilities for the community. The income can be variable depending on what development is happening in the Motueka Ward. It is hard to predict the income as the timing of developments are at the whim of the developer and the economy.
- 10.2 The income received by Council from subdivisions in the 2016/2017 year is programmed to be used in the 2017/2018 financial year. There is approximately \$30,000 less income received that is planned to be spent. Therefore, I am asking the Board to either remove \$30,000 from the Land Purchase budget to balance the budget.

## 11 Next Steps / Timeline

11.1 Work will continue on the RFC projects already approved and we will work with the Board to approve the final budget and projects identified for the 2017/2018 financial year.

#### 12 Attachments

Nil

## 7.3 AMENDMENT OF MOTUEKA COMMUNITY BOARD STANDING ORDERS TO ENABLE YOUTH COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVE ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

**Decision Required** 

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Susan Edwards, Community Development Manager

Report Number: RMCB17-07-03

## 1 Summary

- 1.1 This report seeks the Board's agreement to amending its standing orders to enable the attendance of Youth Councillors at Board meetings as advisors and to provide them with speaking rights at the meetings.
- 1.2 The Motueka Community Board has signaled that it would like to provide Youth Council representatives with the opportunity to attend and speak at Board meetings. This opportunity would provide Youth Council representatives with valuable governance experience, while providing a "youth voice" at Board meetings.
- 1.3 At its meeting on 21 October 2016, the Board adopted the "Standing Orders Motueka Community Board" document (Attachment 1). I recommend that the Board amends its standing orders to make provision for Youth Councillors attendance at its meetings in an advisory role. The specific amendments I am recommending include:
  - 1.3.1 adding to standing order **2. Definitions**, a new definition for Youth Council Advisor;
  - 1.3.2 adding to standing order **3.3. Members must obey standing orders**, the requirement for the Youth Council Advisors to also obey standing orders;
  - 1.3.3 adding to standing order 9.14. Public excluded business on the agenda, the requirement for Youth Council Advisors to be excluded during the discussion of any public excluded business on the agenda; and
  - 1.3.4 adding a new standing order **12.1A. Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings**.
- 1.4 The Board has the following options:
  - 1.4.1 **Option 1**: amending its standing orders to make specific provision for up to two Youth Council representatives to attend and speak at its meetings; or
  - 1.4.2 **Option 2**. it could decide not to amend the standing orders and to make a decision at each meetings on the matter.
- 1.5 By amending its standing orders, the Board can provide certainty to Youth Councillors about the opportunity being provided to them.

## 2 Draft Resolution

## That the Motueka Community Board

- 1. receives the Amendment of Motueka Community Board Standing Orders to enable Youth Council representative attendance at meetings report RMCB17-07-03; and
- 2. agrees to make the following amendments to the document "Standing Orders Motueka Community Board" adopted by the Board at its meeting on 21 October 2016:
  - 2.1 add to standing order 2. Definitions, a new definition for Youth Council Advisor as follows:
    - "Youth Council Advisor means a member of the Motueka Youth Council who has been nominated by Council staff to attend and to act in an advisory capacity, at specific Motueka Community Board meetings."
  - 2.2 amend standing order 3.3. Members must obey standing orders to read as follows:
    - "All members of the community board and its committees and subcommittees must obey these standing orders.
    - For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors must also obey standing orders while present at Motueka Community Board meetings.
    - cl. 16(1) Schedule 7, LGA 2002."
  - 2.3 amend standing order 9.14. Public excluded business on the agenda to read as follows:
    - "Items that are likely to be discussed under public excluded must be indicated on each agenda and state the general subject of the item. The chief executive, however, may exclude public access to any reports, or parts of reports, which are reasonably expected to be discussed when the public is excluded.
    - For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from the meeting during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.
    - s. 46A (9), LGOIMA."
  - 2.4 Add a new standing order 12.1A. Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings, as follows:
    - "12.1A. Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings
    - Youth Council Advisors have the right to attend specific Motueka Community Board meetings where they have been nominated to do so by Council staff.
    - Youth Council advisors are to attend meetings in an advisory capacity and are not members of the Board. They have the right to speak at meetings but do not have voting rights.

There may be up to two Youth Council Advisors at any given meeting. The Youth Council advisors may change from meeting to meeting. Youth Council Advisors do not constitute part of the quorum for Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors must abide by these standing orders during Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from meetings during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.

Youth Council Advisors will not be paid for their attendance at Board meetings."; and

3. asks staff to update the Standing Orders Motueka Community Board document in accordance with part 2 of the resolution above.

## 3 Purpose of this report

3.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Board's agreement to amending its standing orders to enable the attendance of Youth Councillors at Board meetings as advisors and to provide them with speaking rights at the meetings.

## 4 Background and Discussion

- 4.1 The Motueka Community Board has signaled that it would like to provide Youth Council representatives with the opportunity to attend and speak at Board meetings. This opportunity would provide Youth Council representatives with valuable governance experience, while providing a "youth voice" at Board meetings.
- 4.2 At its meeting on 21 October 2016, the Board adopted the "Standing Orders Motueka Community Board" document. The standing orders to not specifically provide for Youth Council representatives to attend and speak at Board meetings. I consider that it is wise to amend the Board's standing orders to make specific provision to enable Youth Council representatives to attend and speak at Board meetings. I have drafted suggested changes to the Board's standing orders for your consideration.
- 4.3 Clause 27(3) of Schedule 7 of the Local Government Act 2002 provides that the adoption of standing orders and any amendment to standing orders must be made through a vote of not less than 75 percent of the members present.
- 4.4 I am recommending four amendments to the Board's standing orders as follows:
  - 4.4.1 Add to standing order **2. Definitions**, a new definition for Youth Council Advisor as follows:
    - "Youth Council Advisor means a member of the Motueka Youth Council who has been nominated by Council staff to attend and to act in an advisory capacity, at specific Motueka Community Board meetings."
  - 4.4.2 Add to standing order 3.3. Members must obey standing orders, the requirement for the Youth Council Advisors to also obey standing orders. The new standing order would read as follows:
    - "All members of the community board and its committees and subcommittees must obey these standing orders.
    - For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors must also obey standing orders while present at Motueka Community Board meetings.
    - cl. 16(1) Schedule 7, LGA 2002."
  - 4.4.3 Add to standing order 9.14. Public excluded business on the agenda, the requirement for Youth Council Advisors to be excluded during the discussion of any public excluded business on the agenda. The new standing order would read as follows:
    - "Items that are likely to be discussed under public excluded must be indicated on each agenda and state the general subject of the item. The chief executive, however, may

exclude public access to any reports, or parts of reports, which are reasonably expected to be discussed when the public is excluded.

For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from the meeting during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.

- s. 46A (9), LGOIMA."
- 4.4.4 Add a new standing order **12.1A. Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings**, as follows:

## "12.1A. Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings

Youth Council Advisors have the right to attend specific Motueka Community Board meetings where they have been nominated to do so by Council staff.

Youth Council advisors are to attend meetings in an advisory capacity and are not members of the Board. They have the right to speak at meetings but do not have voting rights.

There may be up to two Youth Council Advisors at any given meeting. The Youth Council advisors may change from meeting to meeting. Youth Council Advisors do not constitute part of the quorum for Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors must abide by these standing orders during Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from meetings during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.

Youth Council Advisors will not be paid for their attendance at Board meetings."

## 5 Options

- 5.1 The Board has the following options:
  - 5.1.1 **Option 1**: amending its standing orders to make specific provision for up to two Youth Council representatives to attend and speak at its meetings; or
  - 5.1.2 **Option 2**. it could decide not to amend the standing orders and to make a decision at each meetings on the matter.
- 5.2 I recommend that you amend the standing orders to provide certainty for the Youth Council Representatives that if they attend Board meetings they will be permitted to speak. The amendments also provide some context and constraint on the Youth Council Advisor role.
- 5.3 Youth Councillors will gain valuable governance experience through their roles with the Board. The Board will also benefit from the contribution of a youth voice at the Board table during discussions.
- 5.4 Option 2 has the risk that Youth Councillors will not wish to attend meetings on the off chance that they may be permitted to contribute and have speaking rights. Under this option there would be less clarity of what their role is and of how standing orders apply to them.

6

## Strategy and Risks

- 6.1 The proposal contained in this report aligns well with Council's strategic pillars, in particular the "Quality Partnerships and Relationships" pillar.
- 6.2 The risks of the Board allowing Youth Councillors as advisors are relatively low, given that they are only advisors and do not have voting rights. They are also required to abide by the Board's standing orders while attending meetings. Board members will be able to coach, support and advise the Youth Councillors on their role at meetings.

## 7 Policy / Legal Requirements / Plan

- 7.1 The proposals contained in this report comply with the Board's legal responsibilities.
- 7.2 Clause 27(3) of Schedule 7 of the Local Government Act 2002 provides that the adoption of standing orders and any amendment to standing orders must be made through a vote of not less than 75 percent of the members present.

## 8 Consideration of Financial or Budgetary Implications

8.1 There are no financial or budgetary implications of this decision, as the Youth Councillors will not be paid for their attendance at meetings.

## 9 Significance and Engagement

9.1 I consider that the decisions sought through this report are of low significance and that the Board does not need to consult prior to making the decisions. The standing orders under consideration apply to the Board's own meeting procedures and therefore I consider that they do not need to be consulted on with the public.

Issue	Level of Significance	Explanation of Assessment
Is there a high level of public interest, or is decision likely to be controversial?	low	The standing orders apply to the Board's own processes and are unlikely to be of general public interest.
Is there a significant impact arising from duration of the effects from the decision?	low	The Board can agree to change standing orders back at any time in the future.
Does the decision relate to a strategic asset? (refer Significance and Engagement Policy for list of strategic assets)	No	
Does the decision create a substantial change in the level of service provided by Council?	No	The decision does not affect any of Council's stated levels of service in its Long Term Plan 2015-2025.
Does the proposal or decision substantially affect debt, rates or Council finances in any one year or more of the LTP?	No	There are no financial implications of this decision.
Does the decision involve the sale of a substantial proportion or controlling interest in a CCO or CCTO?	No	
Does the proposal or decision involve entry into a private sector partnership or contract to carry out the deliver on any Council group of activities?	No	The decision does not relate to delivery of any Council group of activities.
Does the decision involve Council exiting from or entering into a group of activities?	No	

## 10 Conclusion

10.1 There is value to both the Board and to the Youth Councillors of allowing them to attend Board meetings as advisors and to have speaking rights at the meetings. By amending its standing orders, the Board can provide certainty to Youth Councillors about the opportunity being provided to them. I recommend that the Board make the amendments to its standing orders proposed in the draft resolution.

## 11 Next Steps / Timeline

11.1 If the Board agrees with the draft resolution, staff will amend the standing orders in line with the resolution.

## 3 Attachments

1. Motueka Community Board Standing Orders - Proposed Amendments

25



# **Standing Orders**

**Motueka Community Board** 

21 October 2016

## **Preface**

These standing orders have been designed specifically for community boards and meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002 and the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 and are recommended for the use of community boards by the Community Board Executive.

Community boards are required under cl. 27 Schedule 7 the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA 2002) to adopt a set of standing orders for the conduct of their meetings and those of its committees and subcommittees.

Standing orders contain rules for the orderly conduct of the proceedings of community boards and any community board committees or subcommittees. Their purpose is to enable community boards to exercise their decision-making responsibilities in a transparent, inclusive and lawful manner.

In doing so the application of standing orders contributes to public confidence in the quality of local government and democracy in general.

For clarification whenever a question about the interpretation or application of these standing orders arises, particularly if the matter is not provided for in the standing orders, it is the responsibility of the Chairperson to make a ruling.

All members of a community board must abide by these standing orders.

## Copyright Notice:

The Tasman District Council (**Council**) has been granted a royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-transferable and revocable licence to:

- amend the standing orders (Amended Standing Orders) so that they are suitable for the Council's specific context and needs;
- copy the Amended Standing Orders for use by the Council's employees and elected members and the public; and
- place the Amended Standing Orders on the Council or public website.

The Council will not supply or make available to any third party a copy of the Guide, the Standing Orders or the Amended Standing Orders other than as permitted by this licence. All other rights are reserved by EquiP, the copyright owner, under the Copyright Act 1994. Any request to use the standing orders for purposes other than those described above should be made directly to EquiP.

EquiP has made every reasonable effort to provide accurate information in this document, however it is not advice and we do not accept any responsibility for actions taken that may be based on reading it.

## **Contents**

Intro	oduction	9
1.1	Principles	9
1.2	Statutory references	9
1.3	Acronyms	10
1.4	Application	10
Defi	nitions	10
eral ı	matters	15
Stan	nding orders	15
3.1	Obligation to adopt standing orders	15
3.2	Process for adoption and alteration of standing orders	15
3.3	Members must obey standing orders	15
3.4	Application of standing orders	15
3.5	Temporary Suspension of standing orders	15
3.6	Quasi-judicial proceedings	16
3.7	Physical address of members	16
Mee	tings	16
4.1	Legal requirement to hold meetings	16
4.2	Meeting duration	16
4.3	Language	16
4.4	Webcasting meetings	17
4.5	First meeting (inaugural)	17
4.6	Requirements for the first meeting	17
App	ointments and elections	18
5.1	Elections of Chairpersons and deputy Chairpersons	18
5.2	Voting system for Chairperson and deputy Chairperson	18
Dele	egations	18
6.1	Community boards may delegate	18
6.2	Use of delegated powers	19
6.3	Decisions made under delegated authority cannot be rescinded or amended	19
Com	nmittees	19
7.1	Appointment of committees and subcommittees	19
7.2	Discharge or reconstitution of committees and subcommittees	19
7.3	Appointment or discharge of committee and subcommittee members	20
7.4	Elected members on committees and subcommittees	20
7.5	Community board may replace members if committee not discharged	20
7.6	Decision not invalid despite irregularity in membership	20
	1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 Defi eral I Stan 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 Mee 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 App 5.1 5.2 Dele 6.1 6.2 6.3 Com 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	1.2 Statutory references  1.3 Acronyms  1.4 Application  Definitions  eral matters  Standing orders  3.1 Obligation to adopt standing orders  3.2 Process for adoption and alteration of standing orders  3.3 Members must obey standing orders  3.4 Application of standing orders  3.5 Temporary Suspension of standing orders  3.6 Quasi-judicial proceedings  3.7 Physical address of members  Meetings  4.1 Legal requirement to hold meetings  4.2 Meeting duration  4.3 Language  4.4 Webcasting meetings  4.5 First meeting (inaugural)  4.6 Requirements for the first meeting  Appointments and elections  5.1 Elections of Chairpersons and deputy Chairperson  Delegations  6.1 Community boards may delegate  6.2 Use of delegated powers  6.3 Decisions made under delegated authority cannot be rescinded or amended Comittees  7.1 Appointment of committees and subcommittees  7.2 Discharge or reconstitution of committees and subcommittees  7.3 Appointment or discharge of committee and subcommittees  7.4 Elected members on committees and subcommittees  7.5 Community board may replace members if committee not discharged

Pre	Pre-meeting		21
8.	Giving notice		
	8.1	Public notice – ordinary meetings	21
	8.2	Notice to members - ordinary meetings	21
	8.3	Extraordinary meeting may be called	21
	8.4	Notice to members - extraordinary meetings	21
	8.5	Public notice - extraordinary meetings	22
	8.6	Process for calling an extraordinary meeting at an earlier time	22
	8.7	Notification of extraordinary meetings held at an earlier time	22
	8.8	Chief executive may make other arrangements	22
	8.9	Meetings not invalid	22
	8.10	Resolutions passed at an extraordinary meeting	23
	8.11	Meeting schedules	23
	8.12	Non-receipt of notice to members	23
	8.13	Meeting cancellations	23
9.	Meeting agenda		
	9.1	Preparation of the agenda	24
	9.2	Process for raising matters for a decision	24
	9.3	Chief executive may delay or refuse request	24
	9.4	Order of business	24
	9.5	Chairperson's recommendation	24
	9.6	Chairperson's report	24
	9.7	Public availability of the agenda	25
	9.8	Public inspection of agenda	25
	9.9	Withdrawal of agenda items	25
	9.10	Distribution of the agenda	25
	9.11	Status of agenda	25
	9.12	Items of business not on the agenda which cannot be delayed	26
	9.13	Discussion of minor matters not on the agenda	26
	9.14	Public excluded business on the agenda	26
	9.15	Qualified privilege relating to agenda and minutes	26
Mee	ting F	Procedures	27
10.	Quoi	rum	27
	10.1	Community Boards	27
	10.2	Committees and subcommittees	27
		Joint Committees	27
	10.4	Requirement for a quorum	28
		Meeting lapses where no quorum	28
	10.6	Business from lapsed meetings	28

11.	Public access and recording	28
	11.1 Meetings open to the public	28
	11.2 Grounds for removing the public	28
	11.3 Community board may record meetings	28
	11.4 Public may record meetings	29
12.	Attendance	29
	12.1 Members right to attend meetings	29
	12.2 Attendance when a committee is performing judicial or quasi-judicial functions	29
	12.3 Leave of absence	29
	12.4 Apologies	29
	12.5 Recording apologies	30
	12.6 Absence without leave	30
	12.7 Right to attend by audio or audio visual link	30
	12.8 Member's status: quorum	30
	12.9 Member's status: voting	30
	12.10Chairperson's duties	30
	12.11 Conditions for attending by audio or audio visual link	31
	12.12Request to attend by audio or audio visual link	31
	12.13Chairperson may terminate link	31
	12.14Giving or showing a document	31
	12.15Link failure	32
	12.16Confidentiality	32
13.	Chairperson's role in meetings	32
	13.1 Community board	32
	13.2 Committees	32
	13.3 Addressing the Chairperson	32
	13.4 Chairperson's rulings	32
	13.5 Chairperson standing	33
	13.6 Member's right to speak	33
	13.7 Chairperson may prioritise speakers	33
14.	Public Forums	33
	14.1 Time limits	33
	14.2 Restrictions	33
	14.3 Questions at public forums	34
	14.4 No resolutions	34
15.	Deputations	34
	15.1 Time limits	34
	15.2 Restrictions	34
	15.3 Questions of a deputation	35
	15.4 Resolutions	35

16.	Petitions	35
	16.1 Form of petitions	35
	16.2 Petition presented by petitioner	35
	16.3 Petition presented by member	35
17.	Exclusion of public	36
	17.1 Motions and resolutions to exclude the public	36
	17.2 Specified people may remain	36
	17.3 Public excluded items	36
	17.4 Non-disclosure of information	36
	17.5 Release of information from public excluded session	37
18.	Voting	37
	18.1 Decisions by majority vote	37
	18.2 Open voting	37
	18.3 Chairperson has a casting vote	37
	18.4 Method of voting	37
	18.5 Calling for a division	38
	18.6 Request to have votes recorded	38
	18.7 Members may abstain	38
19.	Conduct	38
	19.1 Calling to order	38
	19.2 Disrespect	38
	19.3 Retractions and apologies	38
	19.4 Disorderly conduct	39
	19.5 Contempt	39
	19.6 Removal from meeting	39
	19.7 Financial conflicts of interests	39
	19.8 Non-financial conflicts of interests	39
	19.9 Qualified privilege for meeting proceedings	40
	19.10Qualified privilege additional to any other provisions	40
	19.11 Electronic devices at meetings	40
20.	General rules of debate	40
	20.1 Chairperson may exercise discretion	40
	20.2 Time limits on speakers	40
	20.3 Questions to staff	41
	20.4 Questions of clarification	41
	20.5 Members may speak only once	41
	20.6 Limits on number of speakers	41
	20.7 Seconder may reserve speech	41
	20.8 Speaking only to relevant matters	41
	20.9 Restating motion	41

	20.10Criticism of resolutions	42
	20.11 Objecting to words	42
	20.12Right of reply	42
	20.13No other member may speak	42
	20.14Adjournment motions	42
	20.15Chairperson's acceptance of closure motions	42
21.	General procedures for speaking and moving motions	43
	21.1 Options for speaking and moving	43
	21.2 Option A	43
	21.3 Option B	43
	21.4 Option C	44
	21.5 Procedure if no resolution is reached	44
22.	Motions and amendments	44
	22.1 Proposing and seconding motions	44
	22.2 Motions in writing	44
	22.3 Motions expressed in parts	44
	22.4 Substituted motion	44
	22.5 Amendments to be relevant and not direct negatives	45
	22.6 Foreshadowed amendments	45
	22.7 Lost amendments	45
	22.8 Carried amendments	45
	22.9 Where a motion is lost	45
	22.10Withdrawal of motions and amendments	45
	22.11No speakers after reply or motion has been put	45
23.	Revocation or alteration of resolutions	46
	23.1 Member may move revocation of a decision	46
	23.2 Revocation must be made by body responsible for the decision	46
	23.3 Requirement to give notice	46
	23.4 Restrictions on actions under the affected resolution	46
	23.5 Revocation or alteration by resolution at same meeting	47
	23.6 Revocation or alteration by recommendation in report	47
24.	Procedural motions	47
	24.1 Procedural motions must be taken immediately	47
	24.2 Procedural motions to close or adjourn a debate	47
	24.3 Voting on procedural motions	48
	24.4 Debate on adjourned items	48
	24.5 Remaining business at adjourned meetings	48
	24.6 Business referred to a committee	48
	24.7 Other types of procedural motions	48

25.	Poin	ts of order	48
	25.1	Members may raise points of order	48
	25.2	Subjects for points of order	48
	25.3	Contradictions	49
	25.4	Point of order during division	49
	25.5	Chairperson's decision on points of order	49
26.	Notic	ces of motion	49
	26.1	Notice of intended motion to be in writing	49
	26.2	Refusal of notice of motion	49
	26.3	Mover of notice of motion	50
	26.4	Alteration of notice of motion	50
	26.5	When notices of motion lapses	50
	26.6	Referral of notices of motion	50
	26.7	Repeat notices of motion	50
27.	Minu	tes	51
	27.1	Minutes to be evidence of proceedings	51
	27.2	Matters recorded in minutes	51
	27.3	No discussion on minutes	51
	27.4	Minutes of last meeting before election	52
28.	Minu	te books	52
	28.1	Inspection	52
	28.2	Inspection of public excluded matters	52
Refe	rence	d documents	52
Appe	endix	1: Grounds to exclude the public	53
Appe	endix	2: Sample resolution to exclude the public	55
Appe	endix	3: Motions and amendments	58
Appe	endix	4: Table of procedural motions	59
Appe	endix	5: Webcasting protocols	61
Appe	endix	6: Powers of a Chairperson	62
Appe	endix	7: Process for removing a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson	67
Appe	endix	8: Workshops	68
Appendix 9: Sample order of business			69
Appe	endix	10: Process for raising matters for a decision	70

## 1. Introduction

These Standing Orders have been prepared to enable the orderly conduct of community board authority meetings. They incorporate the legislative provisions relating to meetings, decision making and transparency. They also include practical guidance on how meetings should operate so that statutory provisions are complied with and the spirit of the legislation fulfilled.

To assist elected members and officials the document is structured in three parts:

- Part 1 deals with general matters
- Part 2 deals with pre-meeting procedures
- Part 3 deals with meeting procedures.

Following Part 3 the Appendices provide templates and additional guidance for implementing provisions within the Standing Orders. Please note, the Appendix is an attachment to the standing orders and is not part of the standing orders as adopted by the community board.

In addition, the Standing Orders Guide provides advice and good practice tips for Chairpersons and staff on the implementation of the standing orders.

## 1.1 Principles

Standing orders are part of the framework of processes and procedures designed to ensure that our system of local democracy and in particular local government is transparent and accountable. Standing orders give effect to the principles which underpin good governance. Key principles are that a local authority and consequently a community board should:

- conduct its business in an open, transparent and democratically accountable manner;
- give effect to its identified priorities and desired outcomes in an efficient and effective manner;
- make itself aware of, and have regard to, the views of all of its communities;
- take account, when making decisions, of the diversity of the community, its interests and the interests of future communities as well;
- ensure that any decisions made under these standing orders comply with the decisionmaking provisions of Part 6 of the LGA; and
- ensure that decision-making procedures and practices meet the standards of natural justice.

In addition, the LGA 2002 requires that all local authorities act so that "governance structures and processes are effective, open and transparent" (s. 39 LGA 2002).

## 1.2 Statutory references

The Standing orders combine statutory provisions with guidance on their application. Where a statutory provision has been augmented with advice on how it might be implemented the advice (so as not to confuse it with the statutory obligation) is placed below the relevant legislative reference. In some cases, the language in the statutory provision may have been modernised or amended to ensure consistency with more recently enacted statutes. Original versions of each statutory provision are included in the Standing Orders' Guidelines, the companion document.

It is important to note that during a meeting any statutory references in the standing orders apply throughout the period of the meeting, regardless of whether or not parts or all of the Standing Orders have been suspended. These provisions must also be carried through into any amendment of the standing orders that might be made.

Please note, where it is employed the word 'must', unless otherwise stated, identifies a mandatory legislative requirement.

## 1.3 Acronyms

LGA 2002 Local Government Act 2002

LGOIMA Local Government Official Information Act 1987

LAMIA Local Authority (Elected) Members' Interests Act 1968

## 1.4 Application

For the removal of any doubt these standing orders do not apply to workshops or meetings of working parties and advisory groups.

## 2. Definitions

**Adjournment** means a break in the proceedings of a meeting. A meeting, or discussion on a particular business item, may be adjourned for a brief period, or to another date and time.

**Advisory group** means a group of people convened by a local authority for the purpose of providing advice or information that is not a committee or subcommittee. These standing orders do not apply to such groups. This definition also applies to workshops, working parties, working group, panels, forums, portfolio groups, briefings and other similar bodies.

**Agenda** means the list of items for consideration at a meeting together with reports and other attachments relating to those items in the order in which they will be considered. It is also referred to as an 'order paper'.

Amendment means any change or proposed change to the original or substantive motion.

**Audio link** means facilities that enable audio communication between participants at a meeting when one or more of them is not physically present at the place of the meeting.

**Audiovisual link** means facilities that enable audiovisual communication between participants at a meeting when one or more of them is not physically present at the place of the meeting.

Chairperson means the person presiding at a meeting – the presiding member.

**Chief Executive** means the chief executive of a territorial or regional authority appointed under section 42 of the LGA 2002, and includes for the purposes of these standing orders, any other officer authorized by the local authority.

**Clear working days** means the number of working days (business hours) prescribed in these standing orders for the giving of notice; and excludes the date of the meeting and date on which the notice is served.

Committee includes, in relation to a local authority:

- (a) A committee comprising all the members of that authority;
- (b) A standing committee or special committee appointed by that authority;
- (c) A joint committee appointed under clause 30A of Schedule 7 of the LGA 2002; and
- (d) Any subcommittee of a committee described in (a), (b) and (c) of this definition.

**Community board** means a community board established under s.49 of the LGA 2002.

**Contempt** means being disobedient to or disrespectful of the chair of a meeting, or any members or officers present.

Council means, in the context of these standing orders, the governing body of a local authority.

**Deputations** means a request from any person or group to make a presentation to the community board which is approved by the Chairperson and which may be made in English, te reo Māori or New Zealand Sign Language.

Electronic link means both an audio and audio visual link.

**Extraordinary meeting** has the same meaning as defined in clause 22 of Schedule 7 of the LGA 2002.

**Foreshadowed motion** means a motion that a member indicates their intention to move once the debate on a current motion or amendment is concluded.

**Joint Committee** means a committee in which the members are appointed by more than one community board in accordance with clause 30A of Schedule 7 of the LGA 2002.

Karakia timatanga means an opening prayer.

Karakia whakamutunga means a closing prayer.

**Lawfully excluded** means a member of a community board who has been removed from a meeting due to contempt.

**Local authority** means in the context of these standing orders a regional council or territorial authority, as defined in s. 5 of the LGA 2002, which is named in these standing orders, and any subordinate decision-making bodies established by the local authority.

Mayor means the Mayor of a territorial authority elected under the Local Electoral Act 2001.

**Meeting** means any first, inaugural, ordinary, or extraordinary meeting of a local authority, subordinate decision-making bodies and any community or local board of the local authority convened under the provisions of LGOIMA.

**Member** means any person elected or appointed to the community board.

**Mihi whakatau** means a brief welcome typically delivered by one person without any further formalities.

Minutes means the record of the proceedings of any meeting of the community board.

Motion means a formal proposal to a meeting.

Mover means the member who initiates a motion.

**Newspaper** means a periodical publication published (whether in New Zealand or elsewhere) at intervals not exceeding 40 days, or any copy of, or part of any copy of, any such publications; and this includes every publication that at any time accompanies and is distributed along with any newspaper.

**Notice of Motion** means a motion given in writing by a member in advance of a meeting in accordance with, and as provided for, in these Standing Orders.

**Open voting** means voting that is conducted openly and in a transparent manner and may be conducted by electronic means. The result of the vote must be announced immediately it has concluded. Secret ballots are specifically excluded.

**Order Paper** means the list of items for consideration at a meeting together with reports and other attachments relating to those items set out in the order in which they will be considered. An order paper is also referred to as an agenda.

**Ordinary meeting** means any meeting, other than the first meeting, of a local authority or community board publicly notified in accordance with sections 46(1) and (2) of LGOIMA.

**Petition** means a request to a local authority which contains at least 20 signatures.

**Powhiri** means a formal welcome involving a Karanga from the Tangata Whenua (the home people) followed by formal speech making. A Powhiri is generally used for formal occasions of the highest significance.

**Presiding member** means the person chairing a meeting.

**Procedural motion** means a motion that is used to control the way in which a motion or the meeting is managed as specified in standing orders 24.1 - 24.7.

**Public excluded information** refers to information which is currently before a public excluded session, is proposed to be considered at a public excluded session, or had previously been considered at a public excluded session and not yet been released as publicly available information. It includes:

- any minutes (or portions of minutes) of public excluded sessions which have not been subsequently released by the local authority or community board;
- any other information which has not been released by the local authority or community board as publicly available information.

**Public excluded session,** also referred to as confidential or in-committee session, refers to those meetings or parts of meetings from which the public is excluded by the community board as provided for in LGOIMA.

**Public Forum** refers to a period usually at the start of a meeting for the purpose of public input.

**Publicly notified** means notified to members of the public by notice contained in a newspaper circulating in the district of the local authority, or where there is no such newspaper, by notice displayed in a public place. The notice may also be replicated on a council's website.

Qualified Privilege means the privilege conferred on member by s. 52 and s. 53 of LGOIMA.

**Quasi-judicial** refers to a meeting that involves the consideration of issues requiring the evaluation of evidence, the assessment of legal argument and/or the application of legal principles.

**Quorum** means the minimum number of members required to be present in order to constitute a valid meeting.

**Regional Council Chairperson** means the member of the governing body of a regional council elected as Chairperson of that regional council under cl.25 Schedule 7 LGA 2002.

**Resolution** means a motion that has been adopted by the meeting.

**Right of Reply** means the right of the mover of a motion to sum up the debate and reply to those who have spoken against the motion. (The right can also apply to an amendment.

Seconder means the member who seconds a motion.

**Sub judice** means under judicial consideration and therefore prohibited from public discussion elsewhere.

**Subordinate decision-making body** means committees, subcommittees, and any other bodies established by a local authority that have decision-making authority, but not local or community boards.

**Substantive motion** means the original motion. In the case of a motion that is subject to an amendment, the substantive motion is the original motion incorporating any amendments adopted by the meeting.

**Substantive resolution** means the substantive motion that has been adopted by the meeting, or may be a restatement of a resolution that has been voted on in parts.

**Subcommittee means** a subordinate decision-making body established by a council, or a committee of a council, local board or community board. See definition of "Committee".

Working day means any day of the week other than:

- (a) Saturday, Sunday, Waitangi Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Anzac Day, the Sovereign's Birthday, and Labour Day and, if Waitangi Day or Anzac Day falls on a weekend, the following Monday.
- (b) A day in the period commencing with the 25th day of December in any year and ending with the 15th day of January in the following year.

Should a local authority or community board wish to meet between the 25th of December and the 15th day of January in the following year any meeting must be notified as an extraordinary meeting unless there is sufficient time to notify an ordinary meeting before the commencement of the period.

**Working party** means a group set up by a local authority or community board to achieve a specific objective that is not a committee or subcommittee and to which these standing orders do not apply.

**Workshop,** also described as a briefing, means in the context of these standing orders, a gathering of elected members for the purpose of considering matters of importance to the local authority at which no decisions are made and to which these standing orders do not apply. Workshops may include non-elected members. See definition of "advisory group".

**Youth Council Advisor** means a member of the Motueka Youth Council who has been nominated by Council staff to attend and to act in an advisory capacity, at specific Motueka Community Board meetings.

### **General matters**

# 3. Standing orders

### 3.1 Obligation to adopt standing orders

A community board is required to operate in accordance with standing orders for the conduct of its meetings and the meetings of its committees and subcommittees. Standing orders must not contravene any Act.

cl. 27(1) & (2), Schedule 7, LGA 2002

### 3.2 Process for adoption and alteration of standing orders

The adoption of standing orders and any amendment to standing orders must be made by the community board through a vote of not less than 75 % of the members present. Any amendments also require a vote of not less than 75% of the members of the community board.

cl. 27(3) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

### 3.3 Members must obey standing orders

All members of the community board and its committees and subcommittees must obey these standing orders.

For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors must also obey standing orders while present at Motueka Community Board meetings.cl. 16(1) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 3.4 Application of standing orders

These standing orders apply to all meetings of the community board and its committees and subcommittees. This includes meetings and sessions that the public are excluded from.

# 3.5 Temporary Suspension of standing orders

Any member of a community board may move a motion to suspend standing orders. Any such motion must include the reason for the suspension. If seconded, the Chairperson must put the motion without debate and at least 75 per cent of the members present and voting must vote in favour of the suspension if it is to pass.

cl. 27(4), Schedule 7, LGA 2002

A motion to suspend standing orders may also identify the specific standing orders to be suspended. In the event of suspension those standing orders prescribed in statute will continue to apply, such as the quorum requirements.

# 3.6 Quasi-judicial proceedings

For quasi-judicial proceedings the community board may amend meeting procedures. For example, committees hearing applications under the RMA 1991 have additional powers under the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908.

### 3.7 Physical address of members

Every member of a community board must give to the chief executive a physical residential or business address within the district or region of the local authority and, if desired, an electronic or other address, to which notices and material relating to meetings and community board business may be sent or delivered. Members are to provide their address within 5 working days of the publication of the declaration of the election results.

# 4. Meetings

### 4.1 Legal requirement to hold meetings

A community board must hold meetings for the good government of its community. Meetings must be called and conducted in accordance with:

- (a) Schedule 7 of the LGA 2002;
- (b) Part 7 of LGMOIA; and
- (c) These standing orders.

A meeting can be adjourned to a specified time and day if required by resolution of the meeting.

#### 4.2 Meeting duration

A meeting cannot continue more than six hours from when it starts (including any adjournments) or after 10.30pm, unless the meeting resolves to continue. If there is no such resolution any business on the agenda that has not been dealt with must be adjourned, transferred to the next meeting or transferred to an extraordinary meeting.

No meeting can sit for more than three hours continuously without a break of at least ten minutes unless the meeting resolves to extend the time before a break.

# 4.3 Language

A member may address a meeting in English, te reo Māori or New Zealand Sign Language. A Chairperson may require that a speech is translated and printed in English or te reo Maori.

If a member intends to address the meeting in New Zealand Sign Language, or in te reo Māori when the normal business of the meeting is conducted in English, they must give prior notice to the Chairperson not less than 2 working days before the meeting. Where the normal business of the meeting is conducted in te reo Māori then prior notice of the intention to address the meeting in English must also be given to the Chairperson not less than 2 working days before the meeting.

# 4.4 Webcasting meetings

Webcast meetings should be provided in accordance with the protocols contained in Appendix 5.

### 4.5 First meeting (inaugural)

The first meeting of a community board following a local authority triennial general election must be called by the chief executive following the declaration of the final results. The chief executive must give members not less than 7 days' notice of the meeting. However, in the event of an emergency the chief executive may give notice of the meeting as soon as practicable.

cl. 21(1) - (4), Schedule 7, LGA

### 4.6 Requirements for the first meeting

The chief executive (or, in the absence of the chief executive, their nominee) must chair the meeting until the Chairperson has made an oral declaration and attested the declaration (as set out in cl. 21(4), Schedule 7, (LGA 2002)).

The business to be conducted at the first meeting following a general election must include the following:

- (a) The making and attesting of the declarations required of members under cl.14, Schedule7 (LGA 2002), and
- (b) The election of the Chairperson (if any) and the making and attesting of the declaration required of the Chairperson under cl.14 Schedule7 (LGA 2002), and
- (c) A general explanation, given or arranged by the chief executive, of:
  - i. LGOIMA; and
  - ii. Other laws affecting members, including the appropriate provisions of the Local Authorities (Members Interests) Act 1968; and sections 99, 105, and 105A of the Crimes Act 1961; and the Secret Commissions Act 1910; and the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013;
- (d) The fixing of the date and time of the first meeting of the local authority, or the adoption of a schedule of meetings; and
- (e) the election of the deputy Chairperson in accordance with cl.17 Schedule7 (LGA 2002).

cl. 21(5), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

In addition, a community board will normally adopt its standing orders at the first meeting, although this is not a requirement (unless amendments are made at the meeting) as standing orders remain in force after each triennial election.

# 5. Appointments and elections

### 5.1 Elections of Chairpersons and deputy Chairpersons

When electing a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson the community board (or a committee making the appointment) must decide by resolution to use one of two voting systems set out in Standing Order 5.2.

### 5.2 Voting system for Chairperson and deputy Chairperson

When electing a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson the community board must resolve to use one of the following two voting systems.

#### System A

The candidate will be elected or appointed if he or she receives the votes of a majority of the members of the local authority or committee who are present and voting. This system has the following characteristics:

- (a) there is a first round of voting for all candidates;
- (b) if no candidate is successful in the first round, there is a second round of voting from which the candidate with the fewest votes in the first round is excluded; and
- (c) if no candidate is successful in the second round, there is a third round, and if necessary subsequent rounds, of voting from which, each time, the candidate with the fewest votes in the previous round is excluded.

In any round of voting, if two or more candidates tie for the lowest number of votes, the person to be excluded from the next round is resolved by lot.

#### System B

The candidate will be elected or appointed if he or she receives more votes than any other candidate. This system has the following characteristics:

- (a) there is only one round of voting; and
- (b) if two or more candidates tie for the most votes, the tie is resolved by lot.

cl. 25 Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 6. Delegations

# 6.1 Community boards may delegate

A community board may delegate any of its responsibilities, duties, or powers to a subcommittee or person, subject to any conditions, limitations, or prohibitions imposed by the council.

cl. (2) & (3), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

### 6.2 Use of delegated powers

A committee, subcommittee, member or officer to which or to whom any responsibilities, powers, duties are delegated may, without confirmation by the community board, exercise or perform them in the like manner and with the same effect as the community board itself could have exercised or performed them.

cl. 32(2) & (3)(4) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 6.3 Decisions made under delegated authority cannot be rescinded or amended

Nothing in these standing orders allows a community board to rescind or amend a lawfully made decision of a committee, subcommittee or person carried out under a delegation authorising the making of that decision.

cl. 30 (6), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 7. Committees

### 7.1 Appointment of committees and subcommittees

A community board may appoint the committees and subcommittees that it considers appropriate. A committee may appoint the subcommittees that it considers appropriate, unless it is prohibited from doing so by the community board.

cl. 30(1) & (2), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 7.2 Discharge or reconstitution of committees and subcommittees

Unless expressly provided otherwise in legislation or regulation:

- (a) a community board may discharge or reconstitute a committee or subcommittee, or other subordinate decision-making body; and
- (b) a committee may discharge or reconstitute a subcommittee.

A committee, subcommittee, or other subordinate decision-making body is, unless a community board resolves otherwise, discharged when members elected at a subsequent triennial general election come into office.

cl. 30 (5) & (7), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

**Please note:** s.12 (2) of the Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002 states that the Civil Defence and Emergency Management Group are not deemed to be discharged following a triennial election.

# 7.3 Appointment or discharge of committee and subcommittee members

A community board may appoint or discharge any member of a committee or subcommittee. A committee may appoint or discharge any member of a subcommittee appointed by the committee unless directed otherwise by the community board.

cl. 31 (1) & (2), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 7.4 Elected members on committees and subcommittees

The members of a committee or subcommittee may be, but are not required to be, elected members of a local authority. A community board may appoint a person who is not a member of the local authority to a committee or sub committee if, in the opinion of the community board, the person has the skills, attributes or knowledge to assist the committee or subcommittee to fulfil their terms of reference.

At least one member of a committee must be an elected member of the community board. A staff member of the local authority, in the course of their employment, can be a member of a subcommittee but not a committee.

cl. 31(4) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 7.5 Community board may replace members if committee not discharged

If a community board resolves that a committee or subcommittee is not to be discharged under cl. 30 (7) Schedule7, LGA 2002, it may replace the members of that committee or subcommittee after the next triennial general election of members.

cl. 31(5) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 7.6 Decision not invalid despite irregularity in membership

For the purpose of these standing orders a decision of a community board is not invalidated if:

- 1. there is a vacancy in the membership of the community board at the time of the decision; or
- following the decision some defect in the election or appointment process is discovered and/or that a person on the community board at the time is found to have been ineligible of being a member.

cl. 29, Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# **Pre-meeting**

### 8. Giving notice

### 8.1 Public notice – ordinary meetings

All meetings scheduled for the following month must be publicly notified not more than 14 days and not less than 5 days before the end of every month, together with the dates on which and the times and places at which those meetings are to be held. In the case of meetings held on or after the 21st day of the month public notification must be given not more than 10, nor less than 5, working days before the day on which the meeting is to be held.

s. 46, LGOIMA

### 8.2 Notice to members - ordinary meetings

The chief executive must give notice in writing to each member of the community board of the time and place of any meeting. Notice must be given at least 14 days before the meeting unless the community board has adopted a schedule of meetings, in which case notice must be given at least 14 days before the first meeting on the schedule.

cl. 19 (5), Schedule7 LGA 2002.

### 8.3 Extraordinary meeting may be called

An extraordinary council meeting may be called by:

- (a) resolution of the community board, or
- (b) a requisition in writing delivered to the chief executive which is signed by:
  - i. the Chairperson, or
  - ii. no less than one third of the total membership of the community board (including vacancies).

cl. 22(1) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 8.4 Notice to members - extraordinary meetings

Notice in writing of the time and place of an extraordinary meeting called under standing order 8.3 and of the general nature of business, must be given by the chief executive to each member of the community board at least 3 working days before the day appointed for the meeting. If the meeting is called by a resolution then notice must be provided within such lesser period as is specified in the resolution, as long as it is not less than 24 hours.

cl. 22(3), Schedule7 LGA 2002.

# 8.5 Public notice - extraordinary meetings

Where an extraordinary meeting of a community board was called and notice of that meeting was inconsistent with these standing orders the community board must, as soon as practicable following the meeting, give public notice stating that

- (a) the meeting has occurred;
- (b) the general nature of business transacted; and
- (c) the reasons why it was not correctly notified.

s. 46(3) & (4), LGOIMA.

### 8.6 Process for calling an extraordinary meeting at an earlier time

If the business to be dealt with requires a meeting to be held at a time earlier than is allowed by the notice requirements specified in standing order 8.4, a meeting may be called by the Chairperson, or if the Chairperson is not available, the chief executive.

cl. 22(2) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

### 8.7 Notification of extraordinary meetings held at an earlier time

Notice of the time and place of a meeting called under Standing Orders 8.6, and of the matters for which the meeting is being called, must be given by the person calling the meeting, or by another person on that person's behalf, to each member of the community board and the chief executive by whatever means is reasonable in the circumstances at least 24 hours before the time appointed for the meeting.

cl. 22(4), Schedule7 LGA 2002.

### 8.8 Chief executive may make other arrangements

The chief executive is to make any other arrangement for the notification of meetings, including extraordinary meetings, as the community board may, from time to time, determine.

s. 46(5) LGOIMA.

# 8.9 Meetings not invalid

The failure to notify a public meeting under these standing orders does not of itself make that meeting invalid. However, where a community board becomes aware that a meeting has been incorrectly notified it must, as soon as practicable, give public notice stating:

- that the meeting occurred without proper notification;
- the general nature of the business transacted; and
- the reasons why the meeting was not properly notified.

s. 46(6), LGOIMA.

# 8.10 Resolutions passed at an extraordinary meeting

A community board must, as soon as practicable, publicly notify any resolution passed at an extraordinary meeting of the community board unless -

(a) the resolution was passed at a meeting or part of a meeting from which the public was excluded; or

(b) the extraordinary meeting was publicly notified at least 5 working days before the day on which the meeting was held.

s. 51A, LGOIMA.

#### 8.11 Meeting schedules

Where the community board adopts a meeting schedule it may cover any period that the community board considers appropriate and may be amended. Notification of the schedule, or an amendment, will constitute notification to members of every meeting on the schedule or the amendment. This does not replace the requirements under LGOIMA to also publicly notify each meeting.

cl. 19 (6) Schedule 7 LGA 2002.

#### 8.12 Non-receipt of notice to members

A meeting of a community board is not invalid if notice of that meeting was not received, or not received in due time, by a member of the community board unless:

- 1. it is proved that the person responsible for giving notice of the meeting acted in bad faith or without reasonable care; and
- 2. the member concerned did not attend the meeting.

A member of a community board may waive the need to be given notice of a meeting.

cl. 20 (1) & (2) Schedule 7 LGA 2002.

# 8.13 Meeting cancellations

The Chairperson of a scheduled meeting may cancel the meeting if the Chairperson, in consultation with the chief executive, considers this is necessary for reasons that include lack of business, lack of quorum or clash with another event.

The chief executive must make a reasonable effort to notify members and the public as soon as practicable of the cancellation and the reasons behind it.

# 9. Meeting agenda

#### 9.1 Preparation of the agenda

It is the chief executive's responsibility to prepare an agenda for each meeting listing and attaching information on the items of business to be brought before the meeting so far as is known, including the names of the relevant members.

The chief executive should consult the Chairperson on any business items being prepared for the agenda.

### 9.2 Process for raising matters for a decision

Requests for reports may be made by a resolution of the community board and must also fall within the scope of the board's delegations. A process for requesting reports is described in Appendix 10.

### 9.3 Chief executive may delay or refuse request

The chief executive may delay commissioning any reports that involve significant cost or are beyond the scope of the community board that made the request. In such cases the chief executive will discuss options for meeting the request with the respective Chairperson and/or report back to the subsequent meeting with an estimate of the cost involved and seek a direction on whether the report should still be prepared.

If a member makes a direct request to a chief executive that a report is prepared the chief executive may refuse. In such cases an explanation must be provided to the member.

#### 9.4 Order of business

At the meeting the business is to be dealt with in the order in which it stands on the agenda unless the Chairperson or the meeting decides otherwise. An example of a default order of business is set out in Appendix 9.

The order of business for an extraordinary meeting must be limited to items that are relevant to the purpose for which the meeting has been called.

# 9.5 Chairperson's recommendation

A Chairperson, either prior to the start of the meeting and/or at the meeting itself, may include a recommendation regarding any item on the agenda brought before the meeting. Where a Chairperson's recommendation varies significantly from an officer's recommendation the reason for the variation must be explained.

# 9.6 Chairperson's report

The Chairperson of a meeting has the right, through a report, to direct the attention of a meeting to any matter which is on the agenda or which falls within the responsibilities of that meeting.

### 9.7 Public availability of the agenda

All information provided to members at a community board meeting must be publicly available except where an item included in the agenda refers to a matter reasonably expected to be discussed with the public excluded.

s. 5 & 46A, LGOIMA

### 9.8 Public inspection of agenda

Any member of the public may, without payment of a fee, inspect, during normal office hours, within a period of at least 2 working days before every meeting, all agendas and associated reports circulated to members of the community board and relating to that meeting. The agenda:

- (a) must be available for inspection at the public offices of the local authority (including service delivery centres), at public libraries under the authority's control and on the council's website, and:
- (b) must be accompanied by either:
  - i. the associated reports; or
  - ii. a notice specifying the places at which the associated reports may be inspected.

s. 46A (1), LGOIMA

### 9.9 Withdrawal of agenda items

If justified by circumstances an agenda item may be withdrawn by the chief executive. In the event of an item being withdrawn the chief executive should inform the Chairperson.

# 9.10 Distribution of the agenda

The chief executive must send the agenda to every member of the community board at least two clear working days before the day of the meeting, except in the case of an extraordinary meeting (see Standing Order 8.4).

The chief executive may send the agenda, and other materials relating to the meeting or other council business, to members by electronic means.

# 9.11 Status of agenda

No matter on a meeting agenda, including recommendations, may be considered final until determined by formal resolution of the meeting.

# 9.12 Items of business not on the agenda which cannot be delayed

A meeting may deal with an item of business that is not on the agenda where the meeting resolves to deal with that item and the Chairperson provides the following information during the public part of the meeting:

(a) the reason the item is not on the agenda; and

(b) the reason why the discussion of the item cannot be delayed until a subsequent meeting.

s. 46A (7), LGOIMA

Items not on the agenda may be brought before the meeting through a report from either the chief executive or the Chairperson.

**Please note** that nothing in this standing order removes the requirement to meet the provisions of Part 6, LGA 2002.

#### 9.13 Discussion of minor matters not on the agenda

A meeting may discuss an item that is not on the agenda only if it is a minor matter relating to the general business of the meeting and the Chairperson explains at the beginning of the public part of the meeting that the item will be discussed. However, the meeting may not make a resolution, decision or recommendation about the item, except to refer it to a subsequent meeting for further discussion or to refer the matter back to Council staff for consideration or reporting back to the Community Board.

s. 46A (7A), LGOIMA.

#### 9.14 Public excluded business on the agenda

Items that are likely to be discussed under public excluded must be indicated on each agenda and state the general subject of the item. The chief executive, however, may exclude public access to any reports, or parts of reports, which are reasonably expected to be discussed when the public is excluded.

For the avoidance of doubt, Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from the meeting during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.

s. 46A (9), LGOIMA.

# 9.15 Qualified privilege relating to agenda and minutes

Where any meeting of the community board is open to the public and a member of the public is supplied with a copy of the agenda or the minutes of that meeting the publication of any defamatory matter included in the agenda or in the minutes is privileged, unless the publication is proved to have been made with ill will or taking improper advantage of the publication.

s. 52, LGOIMA.

# **Meeting Procedures**

#### Opening and closing

At the start of a meeting a community board may choose to recognise the civic importance of the occasion through some form of reflection. This could be an expression of community values, a reminder of the contribution of members who have gone before or a formal welcome, such as a mihi whakatau. Options for opening a meeting could include a karakia timitanga, mihi whakatau, or powhiri as well as a karakia whakamutunga to close a meeting where appropriate.

#### 10. Quorum

### 10.1 Community Boards

The quorum for a meeting of the community board is:

- (a) half of the members being physically present, where the number of members (including vacancies) is even; and
- (b) a majority of the members physically present, where the number of members (including vacancies) is odd.

cl. 23 (3)(a) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 10.2 Committees and subcommittees

A community board sets the quorum for its committees and subcommittees, either by resolution or by stating the quorum in the terms of reference. The quorum of a committee shall be at least two elected members Committees may set the quorums for their subcommittees by resolution provided that it is not less than two members - in the case of subcommittees if a quorum is not stated then the quorum will be two members.

cl. 23 (3)(b) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 10.3 Joint Committees

The quorum at a meeting of a joint committee must be consistent with Standing Order 10.1. Local authorities participating in the joint committee may decide, by agreement, whether or not the quorum includes one or more members appointed by each community board or any party.

cl. 30A (6)(c) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 10.4 Requirement for a quorum

A meeting is constituted where a quorum of members is present, whether or not they are all voting or entitled to vote. In order to conduct any business at a meeting a quorum of members must be present for the whole time that the business is being considered.

cl. 23(1) & (2) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 10.5 Meeting lapses where no quorum

A meeting must lapse, and the Chairperson vacates the chair, if a quorum is not present within 30 minutes of the advertised start of the meeting. The Chairperson has discretion to wait for a quorum for a longer period in situations where members are known to be travelling to the meeting, but are delayed due to extraordinary circumstances.

No business may be conducted while waiting for the quorum to be reached. Where a meeting lapses because there is no quorum, this will be recorded in the minutes, along with the names of the members who attended.

### 10.6 Business from lapsed meetings

Where a meeting lapses the remaining business will be adjourned to be the first items on the agenda for the next ordinary meeting, unless the Chairperson sets an earlier meeting and this is notified by the chief executive.

# 11. Public access and recording

# 11.1 Meetings open to the public

Except as otherwise provided by Part 7 of LGOIMA, every meeting of the community board, and its committees and subcommittees, must be open to the public.

s.47 & 49(a), LGOIMA.

# 11.2 Grounds for removing the public

The Chairperson may require any member of the public whose conduct is disorderly, or who is creating a disturbance, to be removed from the meeting.

# 11.3 Community board may record meetings

Meeting venues should contain clear signage indicating and informing members, officers and the public that proceedings may be recorded by the community board and may be subject to direction by the Chairperson.

### 11.4 Public may record meetings

Members of the public may record meetings which are open to the public. Any recording of meetings must be notified to the Chairperson at the commencement of the meeting to ensure that the recording does not distract the meeting from fulfilling its business.

Where circumstances require the Chairperson may stop the recording for a period of time.

#### 12. Attendance

### 12.1 Members right to attend meetings

A member of a community board has, unless lawfully excluded, the right to attend any meeting of any committees or subcommittees established by the board. They may, with the leave of the Chairperson, take part in the meeting's discussions, however, if the member of the community board is not an appointed member of the committee they may not vote on any matter before the committee.

A community board member attending a meeting of a committee or subcommittee of which they are not an appointed member is not a member of the public for the purpose of s.48 LGOIMA. If the community board resolves to exclude the public any members who are not appointed to those bodies may remain unless they are lawfully excluded.

### 12.1 A Youth Council Advisors attendance at meetings

Youth Council Advisors have the right to attend specific Motueka Community Board meetings where they have been nominated to do so by Council staff.

Youth Council advisors are to attend meetings in an advisory capacity and are not members of the Board. They have the right to speak at meetings but do not have voting rights.

There may be up to two Youth Council Advisors at any given meeting. The Youth Council advisors may change from meeting to meeting. Youth Council Advisors do not constitute part of the quorum for Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors must abide by these standing orders during Board meetings.

Youth Council Advisors are to be excluded from meetings during discussion on any public excluded matters, unless standing order 17.2 of these standing orders applies.

Youth Council Advisors will not be paid for their attendance at Board meetings.

cl. 19(2), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 12.2 Attendance when a committee is performing judicial or quasijudicial functions

If a committee of a community board is performing judicial or quasi-judicial functions members of the board who are not members of the committee are not entitled to take part in the proceedings.

#### 12.3 Leave of absence

The community board may grant a member leave of absence. Members must apply for such leave.

The community board may delegate the power to grant leave of absence to the Chairperson in order to protect a members' privacy. The Chairperson will advise all community board members whenever a member has leave of absence granted under delegated authority. Meeting minutes will record that a member has leave of absence as an apology for that meeting.

### 12.4 Apologies

A member who does not have leave of absence may tender an apology should they be absent from all or part of a meeting. The Chairperson must invite apologies at the beginning of each meeting, including apologies for lateness and early departure. The meeting may accept or decline any apologies. For clarification, the acceptance of a member's apology constitutes a grant of leave of absence for that meeting.

### 12.5 Recording apologies

The minutes will record any apologies tendered before or during the meeting, including whether they were accepted or declined and the time of arrival and departure of all members.

#### 12.6 Absence without leave

Where a member is absent, without leave of absence from the community board, from four consecutive meetings (other than extraordinary meetings) then the office held by the member will become vacant. A vacancy created in this way is treated as an extraordinary vacancy.

cl. 5 (d) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 12.7 Right to attend by audio or audio visual link

Provided the conditions in these standing orders are met members of the community board have the right to attend meetings by means of an electronic link, unless they have been lawfully excluded.

# 12.8 Member's status: quorum

Members who attend meetings by electronic link will not be counted as present for the purposes of a quorum.

### 12.9 Member's status: voting

Where a meeting has a quorum, determined by the number physically present, the members attending by electronic link can vote on any matters raised at the meeting.

### 12.10 Chairperson's duties

Where the technology is available and a member is attending a meeting by audio or audio-visual link, the Chairperson must ensure that:

- (a) the technology for the link is available and of suitable quality;
- (b) procedures for using the technology in the meeting will ensure that:
  - i. everyone participating in the meeting can hear each other;
  - ii. the member's attendance by audio or audio visual link does not reduce their accountability or accessibility of that person in relation to the meeting;
  - iii. the requirements of Part 7 of LGOIMA are met; and
  - iv. the requirements in these standing orders are met.

If the Chairperson is attending by audio or audio visual link, then chairing duties will be undertaken by the deputy chair or a member who is physically present.

cl. 25A (3) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

### 12.11 Conditions for attending by audio or audio visual link

The Chairperson may give approval for a member to attend meetings by electronic link, either generally or for a specific meeting. Examples of situations where approval can be given include:

- (a) where the member is representing the community board at a place that makes their physical presence at the meeting impossible or impracticable;
- (b) where a member is unwell; and
- (c) where a member is unable to attend due to an emergency.

# 12.12 Request to attend by audio or audio visual link

Where possible, a member will give the Chairperson and the chief executive at least 2 working days' notice when they want to attend a meeting by audio or audio visual link. Should, due to illness or emergency, this not be possible the member may give less notice.

Where such a request is made and the technology is available, the chief executive must take reasonable steps to enable the member to attend by audio or audio-visual link. However, the council has no obligation to make the technology for an audio or audio-visual link available.

If the member's request cannot be accommodated, or there is a technological issue with the link, this will not invalidate any acts or proceedings of the community board or its committees.

# 12.13 Chairperson may terminate link

The Chairperson may direct that an electronic link should be terminated where:

(a) use of the link is increasing, or may unreasonably increase, the length of the meeting;

- (b) the behaviour of the members using the link warrants termination, including the style, degree and extent of interaction between members;
- (c) it is distracting to the members who are physically present at the meeting; and
- (d) the quality of the link is no longer suitable.

#### 12.14 Giving or showing a document

A person attending a meeting by audio or audio-visual link may give or show a document by:

- (a) transmitting it electronically;
- (b) using the audio-visual link; and
- (c) any other manner that the Chairperson thinks fit.

cl. 25(A) (6) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 12.15 Link failure

Where an audio or audio visual link fails, or there are other technological issues that prevent a member who is attending by link from participating in a meeting, that member must be deemed to be no longer attending the meeting.

### 12.16 Confidentiality

A member who is attending a meeting by audio or audio-visual link must ensure that the meeting's proceedings remain confidential during any times that the public are excluded. At such times, the Chairperson may require the member to confirm that no unauthorised people are able to view or hear the proceedings.

# 13. Chairperson's role in meetings

# 13.1 Community board

The Chairperson of the community board must preside at community board meetings unless they vacate the chair for a part or all of a meeting. If the Chairperson is absent from a meeting or vacates the chair, the deputy chair must act as Chairperson. If the deputy chair is also absent the community board members who are present must elect a member to be Chairperson at that meeting. This person may exercise the meeting responsibilities, duties and powers of the Chairperson.

cl. 26(1), (5) & (6) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 13.2 Committees

The appointed Chairperson of a community board must preside at all committee meetings unless they vacate the chair for a particular meeting or part of a meeting. If the Chairperson is absent from a meeting or vacates the chair, the deputy Chairperson (if any) will act as Chairperson. If the deputy Chairperson is also absent or has not been appointed, the committee members who are

present must elect a member to act as Chairperson at that meeting who may exercise the meeting responsibilities, duties and powers of the Chairperson

cl. 26(2), (5) & (6), Schedule 7 LGA 2002.

### 13.3 Addressing the Chairperson

Members will address the Chairperson in a manner that the Chairperson has determined.

### 13.4 Chairperson's rulings

The Chairperson will decide all procedural questions where no or insufficient provision is made by these standing orders and with regard to all points of order. Any refusal to obey a Chairperson's ruling or order constitutes contempt.

### 13.5 Chairperson standing

Whenever the Chairperson stands during a debate members are required to sit down and be silent so that they can hear the Chairperson without interruption.

### 13.6 Member's right to speak

Members are entitled to speak in accordance with these standing orders. Members should address the Chairperson when speaking. They may not leave their place while speaking, unless they have the leave of the Chairperson.

### 13.7 Chairperson may prioritise speakers

When two or more members want to speak the Chairperson will name the member who may speak first. Other members who wish to speak have precedence where they intend to:

- (a) raise a point of order, including a request to obtain a time extension for the previous speaker, and/or
- (b) move a motion to terminate or adjourn the debate, and/or
- (c) make a point of explanation, and/or
- (d) request the chair to permit the member a special request.

#### 14. Public Forums

Public forums are a defined period of time, usually at the start of a meeting, which is put aside for the purpose of public input. Public forums are designed to enable members of the public to bring matters to the attention of the community board. Any issue, proposal or matter raised in a public forum must also fall within the terms of reference of that meeting.

#### 14.1 Time limits

A period of up to 30 minutes, or such longer time as the community board may determine, will be available for the public forum at each scheduled community board meeting. Requests must be

made to the meeting secretary at least one clear day before the meeting; however, this requirement may be waived by the Chairperson.

Speakers can speak for up to 5 minutes. No more than two speakers can speak on behalf of an organisation during a public forum. Where the number of speakers presenting in the public forum exceeds 6, in total, the Chairperson has discretion to restrict the speaking time permitted for all presenters.

#### 14.2 Restrictions

The Chairperson has the discretion to decline to hear a speaker or to terminate a presentation at any time where:

- a speaker is repeating views presented by an earlier speaker at the same public forum;
- the speaker is criticising elected members and/or staff;
- the speaker is being repetitious, disrespectful or offensive;
- the speaker has previously spoken on the same issue;
- the matter is subject to legal proceedings;
- the matter is subject to a hearing, including the hearing of submissions where the community board or committee sits in a quasi-judicial capacity.

#### 14.3 Questions at public forums

At the conclusion of the presentation, with the permission of the Chairperson, elected members may ask questions of speakers. Questions are to be confined to obtaining information or clarification on matters raised by a speaker.

#### 14.4 No resolutions

Following the public forum, no debate or decisions will be made at the meeting on issues raised during the forum unless related to items already on the agenda.

# 15. Deputations

The purpose of a deputation is to enable a person, group or organisation to make a presentation to a meeting on a matter or matters covered by that meeting's terms of reference. Deputations are approved by the Chairperson or an official with delegated authority.

#### 15.1 Time limits

Speakers can speak for up to 5 minutes. No more than two speakers can speak on behalf of an organisation's deputation.

#### 15.2 Restrictions

The Chairperson has the discretion to decline to hear or terminate a deputation at any time where:

a speaker is repeating views presented by an earlier speaker at the meeting;

- the speaker is criticising elected members and/or staff;
- the speaker is being repetitious, disrespectful or offensive;
- the speaker has previously spoken on the same issue;
- the matter is subject to legal proceedings;
- the matter is subject to a hearing, including the hearing of submissions where the community board or committee sits in a quasi-judicial capacity.

### 15.3 Questions of a deputation

At the conclusion of the deputation, with the permission of the Chairperson, elected members may ask questions of speakers. Questions are to be confined to obtaining information or clarification on matters raised by the deputation.

#### 15.4 Resolutions

Any debate on a matter raised in a deputation must occur at the time at which the matter is scheduled to be discussed on the meeting agenda and once a motion has been moved and seconded.

#### 16. Petitions

### 16.1 Form of petitions

Petitions may be presented to the community board. Petitions must contain at least 20 signatures and consist of fewer than 150 words (not including signatories). They must be received by the chief executive at least 5 working days before the date of the meeting at which they will be presented.

Petitions must not be disrespectful, use offensive language or include malicious statements (see standing order 19.9 qualified privilege). They may be written in English or te reo Māori. Petitioners planning to make a petition in te reo Māori or sign language should advise the relevant Chairperson at least two working days before the meeting to enable the petition be translated and reprinted, if necessary.

# 16.2 Petition presented by petitioner

A petitioner, who presents a petition to the community board, may speak for 5 minutes (excluding questions) about the petition, unless the meeting resolves otherwise. The Chairperson must terminate the presentation of the petition if he or she believes the petitioner is being disrespectful, offensive or making malicious statements.

Where a petition is presented as part of a deputation or public forum, the speaking time limits relating to deputations or public forums shall apply. The petition must be received by the chief executive at least 5 working days before the date of the meeting concerned.

### 16.3 Petition presented by member

Members may present petitions on behalf of petitioners. In doing so, members must confine themselves to reading:

- (a) the petition;
- (b) the petitioners' statement; and
- (c) the number of signatures.

# 17. Exclusion of public

#### 17.1 Motions and resolutions to exclude the public

Members taking part in a meeting may resolve to exclude the public from that meeting. The grounds for exclusion are those specified in section 48 of LGOIMA (see Appendix 1).

Every motion to exclude the public must be put while the meeting is open to the public, and copies of the motion must be made available to any member of the public who is present. If the motion is passed the resolution to exclude the public must be in the form set out in schedule 2A of LGOIMA (see Appendix 2). The resolution must state:

- (a) the general subject of each matter to be excluded;
- (b) the reason for passing the resolution in relation to that matter; and
- (c) the grounds on which the resolution is based.

The resolution will form part of the meeting's minutes.

s. 48 LGOIMA.

# 17.2 Specified people may remain

Where a meeting resolves to exclude the public, the resolution may provide for specified persons to remain if, in the opinion of the meeting, they will assist the meeting to achieve its purpose. Any such resolution must state, in relation to the matter to be discussed, how the knowledge held by the specified people is relevant and be of assistance.

No such resolution is needed for people who are entitled to be at the meeting, such as relevant staff and officials contracted to the council for advice on the matter under consideration.

s.48 (6) LGOIMA.

#### 17.3 Public excluded items

The chief executive must place in the public-excluded section of the agenda any items that he or she reasonably expects the meeting to consider with the public excluded. The public excluded section of the agenda must indicate the subject matter of the item and the reason the public are excluded.

s.46A (8) LGOIMA

#### 17.4 Non-disclosure of information

No member or officer may disclose to any person, other than another member, officer or person authorised by the chief executive, any information that has been, or will be, presented to any meeting from which the public is excluded, or proposed to be excluded.

This restriction does not apply where a meeting has resolved to make the information publicly available or where the chief executive has advised, in writing, that one or both of the following apply:

- (a) there are no grounds under LGOIMA for withholding the information;
- (b) the information is no longer confidential.

### 17.5 Release of information from public excluded session

A community board may provide for the release to the public of information which has been considered during the public excluded part of a meeting.

Each public excluded meeting must consider and agree by resolution, what, if any, information will be released to the public. In addition, the chief executive may release information, which has been considered at a meeting from which the public has been excluded; where it is determined the grounds to withhold any information no longer exist. The chief executive will inform the subsequent meeting of the information released.

# 18. Voting

# 18.1 Decisions by majority vote

Unless otherwise provided for in the LGA 2002, other legislation, or standing orders, the acts of, and questions before, a community board must be decided at a meeting through a vote exercised by the majority of the members of that meeting voting.

cl. 24(1), Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 18.2 Open voting

An act or question coming before the community board must be done or decided by open voting. cl. 24(3) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 18.3 Chairperson has a casting vote

The Chairperson or any other person presiding at the meeting has a deliberative vote and, in the case of an equality of votes, has a casting vote.

cl. 24(2) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# 18.4 Method of voting

The method of voting must be as follows:

- (a) the Chairperson in putting the motion must call for an expression of opinion on the voices or take a show of hands, the result of either of which, as announced by the Chairperson, must be conclusive unless such announcement is questioned immediately by any member, in which event the Chairperson will call a division;
- (b) the Chairperson or any member may call for a division instead of or after voting on the voices and/or taking a show of hands; and
- (c) where a suitable electronic voting system is available, that system may be used instead of a show of hands, vote by voices or division, and the result displayed notified to the Chairperson who must declare the result.

### 18.5 Calling for a division

When a division is called, the chief executive must record the names of the members voting for and against the motion and abstentions and provide the names to the Chairperson to declare the result. The result of the division must be entered into the minutes and include members' names and the way in which they voted.

The Chairperson may call a second division where there is confusion or error in the original division.

### 18.6 Request to have votes recorded

If, immediately following a vote a member requests it, the minutes must record the member's vote or abstention.

### 18.7 Members may abstain

Any member may abstain from voting.

#### 19. Conduct

# 19.1 Calling to order

When the Chairperson calls members to order, they must be seated and stop speaking. If the members fail to do so, the Chairperson may direct that they should leave the meeting immediately for a specified time.

# 19.2 Disrespect

No member may speak or act in a manner which is disrespectful of other members or inconsistent with the community board's Code of Conduct at any meeting.

# 19.3 Retractions and apologies

In the event of a member or speaker who has been disrespectful of another member or contravened the council's Code of Conduct, the Chairperson may call upon that member or speaker to withdraw the offending comments, and may require them to apologise. If the member

refuses to do so the Chairperson may direct that they should leave the meeting immediately for a specified time and/or make a complaint under the Code of Conduct.

### 19.4 Disorderly conduct

Where the conduct of a member is disorderly or is creating a disturbance the Chairperson may require that member to leave the meeting immediately for a specified time.

If the disorder continues the Chairperson may adjourn the meeting for a specified time. At the end of this time the meeting must resume and decide, without debate, whether the meeting should proceed or be adjourned.

The Chairperson may also adjourn the meeting if other people cause disorder or in the event of an emergency.

### 19.5 Contempt

Where a member is subject to repeated cautions for disorderly conduct by the Chairperson, the meeting may, should it so decide, resolve that the member is in contempt. Any such resolution must be recorded in the meeting's minutes.

### 19.6 Removal from meeting

A member of the police or authorised security personnel may, at the Chairperson's request, remove or exclude a member from a meeting.

This standing order will apply where the Chairperson has ruled that the member should leave the meeting and the member has refused or failed to do so; or has left the meeting and attempted to re-enter it without the Chairperson's permission.

#### 19.7 Financial conflicts of interests

Every member present at a meeting must declare any direct or indirect financial interest that they hold in any matter being discussed at the meeting, other than an interest that they hold in common with the public.

No member may vote on, or take part in, a discussion about any matter in which they have a direct or indirect financial interest unless an exception set out in s.6 LAMIA applies to them, or the Auditor-General has granted them an exemption or declaration under s.6.

Members with a financial interest should physically withdraw themselves from the table unless the meeting is in public excluded in which case they should leave the room.

Neither the Chairperson nor the meeting may rule on whether a member has a financial interest in the matter being discussed. The minutes must record any declarations of financial interests and the member's abstention from any discussion and voting on the matter.

s. 6 & 7 LAMIA.

#### 19.8 Non-financial conflicts of interests

Non-financial interests always involve questions of judgement and degree about whether the responsibility of a member of a community board could be affected by some other separate interest or duty of that member in relation to a particular matter. If a member considers that they have a non-financial conflict of interest in a matter they must not take part in the discussions about that matter or any subsequent vote.

The member must leave the table when the matter is considered, but does not need to leave the room. The minutes must record the declaration and member's subsequent abstention from discussion and voting.

Neither the Chairperson nor the meeting may rule on whether a member has a non-financial interest in the matter being discussed.

#### 19.9 Qualified privilege for meeting proceedings

Any oral statement made at any meeting of the community board in accordance with the rules adopted by the community board for guiding its proceedings is privileged, unless the statement is proved to have been made with ill will or took improper advantage of the occasion of publication.

s. 53, LGOIMA.

#### 19.10 Qualified privilege additional to any other provisions

The privilege referred to above is in addition to any other privilege, whether absolute or qualified, that applies as a result of any other enactment or rule of law applying to any meeting of the community board.

s. 53. LGOIMA.

# 19.11 Electronic devices at meetings

Electronic devices and phones can only be used to advance the business of a meeting. Personal use may only occur at the discretion of the chair. A Chairperson may require that an electronic device is switched off if its use is likely to distract a meeting from achieving its business or a member is found to be receiving information or advice from sources not present at the meeting which may affect the integrity of the proceedings.

### 20. General rules of debate

# 20.1 Chairperson may exercise discretion

The application of any procedural matters in this section of the Standing Orders, such as the number of times a member may speak, is subject to the discretion of the Chairperson.

# 20.2Time limits on speakers

The following time limits apply to members speaking at meetings:

- (a) movers of motions when speaking to the motion not more than 10 minutes;
- (b) movers of motions when exercising their right of reply not more than 5 minutes;
- (c) other members not more than 5 minutes.

Time limits can be extended if a motion to that effect is moved, seconded and supported by a majority of members present.

#### 20.3 Questions to staff

During a debate, members can ask staff questions about the matters being discussed. Questions must be asked through the Chairperson and are at the Chairperson's discretion as to how the question should be dealt with.

#### 20.4 Questions of clarification

At any point of a debate a member may ask the Chairperson for clarification about the nature and content of the motion which is the subject of the debate and the particular stage the debate has reached.

### 20.5 Members may speak only once

A member may not speak more than once to a motion at a meeting of a community board except with permission of the Chairperson.

### 20.6 Limits on number of speakers

If three speakers have spoken consecutively in support of, or in opposition to, a motion, the Chairperson may call for a speaker to the contrary. If there is no speaker to the contrary, the Chairperson must put the motion after the mover's right of reply.

Members speaking must, if requested by the Chairperson, announce whether they are speaking in support of or opposition to a motion.

# 20.7 Seconder may reserve speech

A member may second a motion or amendment without speaking to it, reserving the right to speak later in the debate.

# 20.8 Speaking only to relevant matters

Members may speak to any matter before the meeting; a motion or amendment which they propose; and to raise a point of order arising out of debate, but not otherwise. Members must confine their remarks strictly to the motion or amendment they are speaking to.

The Chairperson's rulings on any matters arising under this standing order are final and not open to challenge.

# 20.9 Restating motion

A member, at any time during a debate for their information, may ask that the Chairperson restate a motion and any amendments, but not so as to interrupt a speaker.

#### 20.10 Criticism of resolutions

A member speaking in a debate may not unduly criticise the validity of any resolution except by a notice of motion to amend or revoke the resolution.

#### 20.11 Objecting to words

When a member objects to any words used by another member in a speech and wants the minutes to record their objection, they must object at the time when the words are used and before any other member has spoken. The Chairperson must order the minutes to record the objection.

### 20.12 Right of reply

The mover of an original motion has a right of reply. A mover of an amendment to the original motion does not. In their reply, the mover must confine themselves to answering previous speakers and not introduce any new matters.

A mover's right of reply can only be used once. It can be exercised either at the end of the debate on the original, substantive or substituted motion or at the end of the debate on a proposed amendment.

However, the original mover may reserve their right of reply and speak once to an original motion and once to each amendment without losing that right of reply. If a closure motion is carried the mover of the motion has the right of reply before the motion or amendment is put to the vote.

#### 20.13 No other member may speak

In exercising a right of reply, no other member may speak:

- (a) after the mover has started their reply;
- (b) after the mover has indicated that they want to forego this right;
- (c) where the mover has spoken to an amendment to the original motion and the Chairperson has indicated that he or she intends to put the motion.

# 20.14 Adjournment motions

The carrying of any motion to adjourn a meeting must supersede other business still remaining to be disposed of. Any such business must be considered at the next meeting. Business referred to, or referred back to, a specified committee or local or community board, is to be considered at the next ordinary meeting of that committee or board, unless otherwise specified.

# 20.15 Chairperson's acceptance of closure motions

The Chairperson may only accept a closure motion where there have been at least two speakers for and two speakers against the motion that is proposed to be closed, or the Chairperson considers it reasonable to do so.

However, the Chairperson must put a closure motion if there are no further speakers in the debate. When the meeting is debating an amendment, the closure motion relates to the amendment. If a closure motion is carried, the mover of the motion under debate has the right of reply after which the Chairperson puts the motion or amendment to the vote.

# 21. General procedures for speaking and moving motions

### 21.1 Options for speaking and moving

This subsection provides three options for speaking and moving motions and amendments at a meeting of a community board. Option A applies unless, on the recommendation of the chairperson at the beginning of a meeting, the meeting resolves [by simple majority] to adopt either Option B or Option C for the meeting generally, or for any specified items on the agenda.

### 21.2 Option A

- The mover and seconder of a motion cannot move or second an amendment. (This
  does not apply when the mover or seconder of a motion to adopt a report of a
  committee wants to amend an item in the report. In this case the original mover or
  seconder may also propose or second the suggested amendment).
- Only members who have not spoken to the original or substituted motion may move or second an amendment to it.
- The mover or seconder of an amendment whether it is carried or lost cannot move or second a subsequent amendment.
- Members can speak to any amendment and, provided they have not spoken to the motion or moved or seconded an amendment, they can move or second further amendments.
- The meeting by agreement of the majority of members present may amend a motion with the agreement of the mover and seconder.

# 21.3 Option B

- The mover and seconder of a motion cannot move or second an amendment. (This
  does not apply when the mover or seconder of a motion to adopt a report of a
  committee wants to amend an item in the report. In this case the original mover or
  seconder may also propose or second the suggested amendment).
- Any members, regardless of whether they have spoken to the original or substituted motion, may move or second an amendment to it.
- The mover or seconder of an amendment that is carried can move or second a subsequent amendment. A mover or seconder of an amendment which is lost cannot move or second a subsequent amendment.
- Members can speak to any amendment.
- The meeting by agreement of the majority of members present may amend a motion with the agreement of the mover and seconder

# 21.4 Option C

• The mover and seconder of a motion can move or second an amendment

- Any members, regardless of whether they have spoken to the original or substituted motion, may move or second an amendment to it.
- The mover or seconder of an amendment whether it is carried or lost can move or second further amendments.
- Members can speak to any amendment.
- The meeting by agreement of the majority of members present may amend a motion with the agreement of the mover and seconder.

#### 21.5 Procedure if no resolution is reached

If no resolution is reached the Chair may accept a new motion to progress the matter under discussion.

#### 22. Motions and amendments

#### 22.1 Proposing and seconding motions

All motions and amendments moved during a debate must be seconded (including notices of motion). The Chairperson may then state the motion and propose it for discussion.

Amendments and motions that are not seconded are not in order and are not entered in the minutes.

### 22.2 Motions in writing

The Chairperson may require movers of motions and amendments to provide them in writing, signed by the mover.

# 22.3 Motions expressed in parts

The Chairperson, or any member, can require a motion that has been expressed in parts to be decided part by part.

#### 22.4 Substituted motion

Where a motion is subject to an amendment, the meeting may substitute the motion with the amendment, provided the mover and seconder of the original motion agree to its withdrawal. All members may speak to the substituted motion.

# 22.5 Amendments to be relevant and not direct negatives

Every proposed amendment must be relevant to the motion under discussion. Proposed amendments cannot be similar to an amendment that has already been lost. Any amendment which, if carried, would have the effect of defeating a previous motion that was carried is a direct negative and is therefore not allowed.

#### 22.6 Foreshadowed amendments

The meeting must dispose of an existing amendment before a new amendment can be foreshadowed. However, members may notify the Chairperson that they intend to move further amendments and the nature of their content.

#### 22.7 Lost amendments

Where an amendment is lost, the meeting will resume the debate on the original or substituted motion. Any member who has not spoken to that motion may speak to it, and may move or second a further amendment.

#### 22.8 Carried amendments

Where an amendment is carried the meeting will resume the debate on the original motion as amended. This will now be referred to as the substantive motion. Members who have not spoken to the original motion may speak to the substantive motion, and may move or second a further amendment to it.

#### 22.9 Where a motion is lost

In a situation where a motion that recommends a course of action is lost a new motion to provide direction might be proposed, with the consent of the Chairperson.

#### 22.10 Withdrawal of motions and amendments

Once a motion or amendment which has been seconded has been put to the meeting by the Chairperson the mover cannot withdraw it without the consent of the majority of the members who are present and voting.

The mover of an original motion, which has been subject to an amendment that has been moved and seconded, cannot withdraw the original motion until the amendment has either been lost or withdrawn by agreement, as above.

# 22.11 No speakers after reply or motion has been put

A member may not speak to any motion once:

- (a) the mover has started their right of reply in relation to the motion; and
- (b) the Chairperson has started putting the motion.

#### 23. Revocation or alteration of resolutions

# 23.1 Member may move revocation of a decision

A member may give the chief executive a notice of motion for the revocation or alteration of all or part of a previous resolution of the council, subordinate body, local or community board. The notice must set out:

- (a) The resolution or part of the resolution which the member proposes to revoke or alter;
- (b) The meeting date when the resolution was passed;
- (c) The motion, if any, which the member proposes to replace it with; and
- (d) Sufficient information as to satisfy the decision-making provisions of sections 77-82 of the Local Government Act 2002.

If the mover of the notice of motion is unable to provide this information, or the decision is likely to be deemed a significant decision, the notice of motion should provide that the proposal is referred to the chief executive for consideration and report.

### 23.2 Revocation must be made by body responsible for the decision

If a resolution is made under delegated authority by a committee only that body may revoke or amend the resolution, assuming the resolution is legally made.

This provision does not prevent the body that made the delegation from removing or amending a delegation given to a subordinate body or local board or community board.

### 23.3 Requirement to give notice

A member must give notice to the chief executive at least 5 working days before the meeting at which it is proposed to consider such a motion and is to be signed by not less than one third of the members of the community board, including vacancies. Notice can be sent via email and include the scanned electronic signatures of members. If the notice of motion is lost, no similar notice of motion which is substantially the same in purpose and effect may be accepted within the next twelve months.

#### 23.4 Restrictions on actions under the affected resolution

Once a notice of motion to revoke or alter a previous resolution has been received no irreversible action may be taken under the resolution in question until the proposed notice of motion has been dealt with. Exceptions apply where, in the opinion of the Chairperson:

- (a) the practical effect of delaying actions under the resolution would be the same as if the resolution had been revoked;
- (b) by reason of repetitive notices, the effect of the notice is an attempt by a minority to frustrate the will of the community board or the committee that made the previous resolution.

In either of these situations, action may be taken under the resolution as though no notice of motion had been given to the chief executive.

# 23.5 Revocation or alteration by resolution at same meeting

A meeting may revoke or alter a previous resolution made at the same meeting where, during the course of the meeting, it receives fresh facts or information concerning the resolution. In this situation, 75 per cent of the members present and voting must agree to the revocation or alteration.

### 23.6 Revocation or alteration by recommendation in report

A community board may, on a recommendation in a report by the Chairperson or chief executive, or the report of any committee or subcommittee, revoke or alter all or part of a resolution passed by a previous meeting. The chief executive must give at least two clear working days' notice of any meeting that will consider such a revocation or alteration recommendation.

cl. 30(6) Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

#### 24. Procedural motions

### 24.1 Procedural motions must be taken immediately

A procedural motion to close or adjourn a debate will take precedence over other business, other than points of order and rights of reply. If the procedural motion is seconded the Chairperson must put it to the vote immediately, without discussion or debate.

### 24.2 Procedural motions to close or adjourn a debate

Any member who has not spoken on the matter under debate may move any one of the following procedural motions to close or adjourn a debate:

- (a) that the meeting be adjourned to the next ordinary meeting (unless the member states an alternative time and place);
- (b) that the motion under debate should now be put (a closure motion);
- (c) that the item being discussed should be adjourned to a specified time and place and not be further discussed at the meeting;
- (d) that the item of business being discussed should lie on the table and not be further discussed at this meeting;
- (e) that the item being discussed should be referred (or referred back) to the relevant committee.

A member seeking to move a procedural motion must not interrupt another member who is already speaking.

# 24.3 Voting on procedural motions

Procedural motions to close or adjourn debate must be decided by a majority of all members who are present and voting. If the motion is lost, no member may move a further procedural motion to close or adjourn the debate within the next 15 minutes.

# 24.4 Debate on adjourned items

When debate resumes on items of business that have been previously adjourned all members are entitled to speak on the items.

### 24.5 Remaining business at adjourned meetings

Where a resolution is made to adjourn a meeting, the remaining business will be considered at the next meeting.

#### 24.6 Business referred to a committee

Where an item of business is referred (or referred back) to a committee the committee will consider it at its next meeting, unless the meeting resolves otherwise.

### 24.7 Other types of procedural motions

The Chairperson has discretion about whether to allow any other procedural motion that is not contained in these standing orders.

#### 25. Points of order

### 25.1 Members may raise points of order

Any member may raise a point of order when they believe these standing orders have been breached. When a point of order is raised, the member who was previously speaking must stop speaking and sit down (if standing).

### 25.2 Subjects for points of order

A member who is raising a point of order must state precisely what its subject is. Points of order may be raised for the following subjects:

- (a) disorder bringing disorder to the attention of the Chairperson;
- (b) language use of disrespectful, offensive or malicious language;
- (c) irrelevance the topic being discussed is not the matter currently before the meeting;
- (d) misrepresentation misrepresentation of any statement made by a member or by an officer or council employee;
- (e) breach of standing order the breach of any standing order while also specifying which standing order is subject to the breach;
- (f) request the recording of words, such as a request that the minutes record words that have been the subject of an objection.

#### 25.3 Contradictions

Expressing a difference of opinion or contradicting a statement by a previous speaker does not constitute a point of order.

# 25.4 Point of order during division

A member may not raise a point of order during a division, except with the permission of the Chairperson.

# 25.5 Chairperson's decision on points of order

The Chairperson may decide a point of order immediately after it has been raised, or may choose to hear further argument about the point before deciding. The Chairperson's ruling on any point of order, and any explanation of that ruling, is not open to any discussion and is final.

## 26. Notices of motion

# 26.1 Notice of intended motion to be in writing

Notice of intended motions must be in writing signed by the mover, stating the meeting at which it is proposed that the intended motion be considered, and must be delivered to the chief executive at least 5 clear working days before such meeting. [Notice of an intended motion can be sent via email and include the scanned electronic signature of the mover.]

Once the motion is received the chief executive must give members notice in writing of the intended motion at least 2 clear working days' notice of the date of the meeting at which it will be considered.

#### 26.2 Refusal of notice of motion

The Chairperson may direct the chief executive to refuse to accept any notice of motion which:

- (a) is disrespectful or which contains offensive language or statements made with malice; or
- (b) is not related to the role or functions of the community board or meeting concerned; or
- (c) contains an ambiguity or a statement of fact or opinion which cannot properly form part of an effective resolution, and where the mover has declined to comply with such requirements as the chief executive officer may make; or
- (d) is concerned with matters which are already the subject of reports or recommendations from a committee to the meeting concerned
- (e) fails to include sufficient information as to satisfy the decision-making provisions of s.77-82 of the LGA 2002; or
- (f) concerns a matter where decision-making authority has been delegated to a committee or subcommittee.

Reasons for refusing a notice of motion should be provided to the mover. Where the refusal is due to (f) the notice of motion may be referred to the appropriate committee or board.

#### 26.3 Mover of notice of motion

Notices of motion may not proceed in the absence of the mover unless moved by another member authorised to do so, in writing, by the mover.

#### 26.4 Alteration of notice of motion

Only the mover, at the time the notice of motion is moved and with the agreement of a majority of those present at the meeting, may alter a proposed notice of motion. Once moved and seconded no amendments may be made to a Notice of Motion.

# 26.5 When notices of motion lapses

Notices of motion that are not put when called by the Chairperson must lapse.

#### 26.6 Referral of notices of motion

Any notice of motion received that refers to a matter ordinarily dealt with by a committee of the community board must be referred to that committee by the chief executive.

Where notices are referred the proposer of the intended motion, if not a member of that committee, must have the right to move that motion and have the right of reply, as if a committee member.

# 26.7 Repeat notices of motion

When a motion has been considered and rejected by the community board, no similar notice of motion which, in the opinion of the Chairperson, may be accepted within the next 12 months, unless signed by not less than one third of all members, including vacancies.

Where a notice of motion has been adopted by the communities board no other notice of motion which, in the opinion of the Chairperson has the same effect, may be put while the original motion stands.

# 27. Minutes

# 27.1 Minutes to be evidence of proceedings

The community board and any committees and subcommittees must keep minutes of their proceedings. These minutes must be kept in hard copy, signed and included in the council's minute book and, when confirmed by resolution at a subsequent meeting and signed by the Chairperson, will be prima facie evidence of the proceedings they relate to.

cl. 28 Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

## 27.2 Matters recorded in minutes

The chief executive must keep the minutes of meetings. The minutes must record:

- (a) the date, time and venue of the meeting
- (b) the names of the members present
- (c) the Chairperson
- (d) any apologies or leaves of absences
- (e) the arrival and departure times of members
- (f) any failure of a quorum
- (g) a list of any external speakers and the topics they addressed
- (h) a list of the items considered
- the resolutions and amendments related to those items including those that were lost, provided they had been moved and seconded in accordance with these standing orders
- (i) the names of all movers, and seconders
- (k) any objections made to words used
- (I) all divisions taken and, if taken, a record of each members' vote
- (m) the names of any members requesting that votes or abstentions be recorded
- (n) any declarations of financial interest or conflicts of interest
- (o) the contempt, censure and removal of any members
- (p) any resolutions to exclude members of the public
- (q) the time at which the meeting concludes or adjourns
- (r) the names of people permitted to stay in public excluded.

**Please Note**: hearings under the RMA, Dog Control Act 1996 and Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012 may have special requirements for minute taking.

#### 27.3 No discussion on minutes

The only topic that may be discussed at a subsequent meeting, with respect to the minutes, is their correctness.

# 27.4 Minutes of last meeting before election

The chief executive and the relevant Chairpersons must sign the minutes of the last meeting of the community board and its committees or subcommittees before the next election of members.

#### 28. Minute books

# 28.1 Inspection

A hard copy of the community board'sminute books must be kept by the chief executive and be open for inspection by the public. This does not preclude the complementary use of electronic minutes in accordance with the Electronics Transactions Act.

s. 51 LGOIMA.

# 28.2 Inspection of public excluded matters

The chief executive must consider any request for the minutes of a meeting or part of a meeting from which the public was excluded as a request for official information in terms of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987.

# Referenced documents

- Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908
- Control and Sale of Alcohol Act 2012
- Crimes Act 1961
- Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013
- Local Authorities (Members' Interests) Act 1968 (LAMIA)
- Local Electoral Act 2001 (LEA)
- Local Government Act 1974 and 2002 (LGA)
- Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 (LGOIMA)
- Marine Farming Act 1971
- Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA)
- Secret Commissions Act 1910

•

# **Appendix 1: Grounds to exclude the public**

A community board may, by resolution, exclude the public from the whole or any part of the proceedings of any meeting only on one or more of the following grounds:

- A1 That good reason exists for excluding the public from the whole or any part of the proceedings of any meeting as the public disclosure of information would be likely:
  - (a) to prejudice the maintenance of the law, including the prevention, investigation, and detection of offences, and the right to a fair trial; or
  - (b) to endanger the safety of any person.
- A2 That the public conduct of the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting would be likely to result in the disclosure of information where the withholding of the information is necessary to:
  - (a) Protect the privacy of natural persons, including that of deceased natural persons; or
  - (b) Protect information where the making available of the information would:
    - i. disclose a trade secret: or
    - ii. be likely unreasonably to prejudice the commercial position of the person who supplied or who is the subject of the information; or,
  - (c) In the case only of an application for a resource consent, or water conservation order, or a requirement for a designation or heritage order, under the Resource Management Act 1991, to avoid serious offence to tikanga Maori, or to avoid the disclosure of the location of waahi tapu; or
  - (d) Protect information which is subject to an obligation of confidence or which any person has been or could be compelled to provide under the authority of any enactment, where the making available of the information would:
    - be likely to prejudice the supply of similar information, or information from the same source, and it is in the public interest that such information should continue to be supplied; or
    - ii. be likely otherwise to damage the public interest; or
  - (e) Avoid prejudice to measures protecting the health or safety of members of the public; or
  - (f) Avoid prejudice to measures that prevent or mitigate material loss to members of the public; or
  - (g) Maintain the effective conduct of public affairs through –the protection of such members, officers, employees, and persons from improper pressure or harassment; or
  - (h) Maintain legal professional privilege; or
  - (i) Enable any Council holding the information to carry out, without prejudice or disadvantage, commercial activities; or
  - Enable any Council holding the information to carry on, without prejudice or disadvantage, negotiations (including commercial and industrial negotiations); or
  - (k) Prevent the disclosure or use of official information for improper gain or improper advantage.

Provided that where A2 of this Appendix applies the public may be excluded unless, in the circumstances of the particular case, the exclusion of the public is outweighed by other considerations which render it desirable, in the public interest, that the public not be excluded.

- A3 That the public conduct of the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting would be likely to result in the disclosure of information, the public disclosure of which would:
  - (a) Be contrary to the provisions of a specified enactment; or
  - (b) Constitute contempt of Court or of the House of Representatives.
- A4 That the purpose of the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting is to consider a recommendation made to that Council by an Ombudsman under section 30(1) or section 38(3) of this Act (in the case of a Council named or specified in Schedule 1 to this Act).
- A5 That the exclusion of the public from the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting is necessary to enable the Council to deliberate in private on its decision or recommendation in:
  - (a) Any proceedings before a Council where
    - A right of appeal lies to any Court or tribunal against the final decision of the Council in those proceedings; or
    - ii. The Council is required, by any enactment, to make a recommendation in respect of the matter that is the subject of those proceedings; and
  - (b) Any proceedings of a Council in relation to any application or objection under the Marine Farming Act 1971.

# Appendix 2: Sample resolution to exclude the public

**THAT** the public be excluded from the following parts of the proceedings of this meeting, namely:

• Name of report(s) ......

The general subject of each matter to be considered while the public is excluded, the reason for passing this resolution in relation to each matter, and the specific grounds under section 48(1) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 for the passing of this resolution are as follows:

	General subject of each matter to be considered	Reason for passing this resolution in relation to each matter	Ground(s) under section 48(1) for the passing of this resolution
1	Put in name of report	Good reason to withhold exists under Section 7.	That the public conduct of the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting would be likely to result in the disclosure of information for which good reason for withholding exists.  Section 48(1)(a)
2		Good reason to withhold exists under Section 7.	That the public conduct of the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting would be likely to result in the disclosure of information for which good reason for withholding exists.  Section 48(1)(a)
3		Good reason to withhold exists under Section 7.	That the public conduct of the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting would be likely to result in the disclosure of information for which good reason for withholding exists.  Section 48(1)(a)

his resolution is made in re	To enable the Committee to consider the application and submissions.  OR  To enable the Committee to consider the objection to fees and charges.  OR  To enable the Committee to.	That the exclusion of the public from the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting is necessary to enable the Council/Committee to deliberate in private on its decision or recommendation in any proceedings where:  i) a right of appeal lies to any Court or tribunal against the final decision of the Council/Committee in those proceedings; or  ii) the community board is required, by any enactment, to make a recommendation in respect of the matter that is the subject of those proceedings.  Use (i) for the RMA hearings and (ii) for hearings under LGA such as objections to Development Contributions or hearings under the Dog Control Act s. 48(1)(d).
------------------------------	---	--

This resolution is made in reliance on sections 48(1)(a) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by section 7 of that Act, which would be prejudiced by the holding of the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are as follows:

Item No	Interest			
	Enable any community board holding the information to carry on, without prejudice or disadvantage, negotiations (including commercial and industrial negotiations) (Schedule 7(2)(i))			
	Protect the privacy of natural persons, including that of deceased natural persons (Schedule 7(2)(a))			
	Maintain legal professional privilege (Schedule 7(2)(g))			
	Prevent the disclosure or use of official information for improper gain or improper advantage (Schedule 7(2)(j))			

Item No	Interest
	Protect information where the making available of the information  (i) would disclose a trade secret; or  (ii) would be likely unreasonably to prejudice the commercial position of the person who supplied or who is the subject of the information (Schedule 7(2)(b))
	In the case only of an application for a resource consent, or water conservation order, or a requirement for a designation or heritage order, under the Resource Management Act 1991, to avoid serious offence to Tikanga Māori, or to avoid the disclosure of the location of waahi tapu (Schedule 7(2)(ba))
	Protect information which is subject to an obligation of confidence or which any person has been or could be compelled to provide under the authority of any enactment, where the making available of the information -
	(i) would be likely to prejudice the supply of similar information, or information from the same source, and it is in the public interest that such information should continue to be supplied; or
	(ii) would be likely otherwise to damage the public interest (Schedule 7(2)(c))
	Avoid prejudice to measures protecting the health or safety of members of the public (Schedule 7(2)(d))
	Avoid prejudice to measures that prevent or mitigate material loss to members of the public (Schedule 7(2)(e))
	Maintain the effective conduct of public affairs through the protection of members or officers or employees of the Council, and persons to whom Section 2(5) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 applies in the course of their duty, from improper pressure or harassment (Schedule 7(2)(f)(ii)).
	Enable any community board holding the information to carry out, without prejudice or disadvantage, commercial activities (Schedule 7(2)(h))

**THAT** XXXX be permitted to remain at this meeting, after the public has been excluded, because of their knowledge of XXXX. This knowledge, which will be of assistance in relation to the matter to be discussed, is relevant to that matter because XXXX.

# **Appendix 3: Motions and amendments**

#### **Motions without amendments** Motions with amendments Motion moved (Maximum 5 minutes) Motion seconded (Seconder may reserve the right to Motion moved but not seconded, speak in the double debate motion lapses. maximum 5 minutes) Amendment (not a direct Notice of intention to move negative) moved and seconded by additional or alternative motion. persons that have not yet spoken (Foreshadowed motion) (Maximum 5 minutes for mover Motion debated and 3 minutes for seconder) (Maximum 5 minutes per speaker. NOTE: If 3 consecutive speakers are in Movers of the original motion may support or opposition, Motion withdrawn by a majority speak once to each amendment. Chairperson may call for speaker decision or by agreement of to the contrary and if none, the mover and seconder. motion may be put after mover and seconder has exercised right Amendment debated to speak). (Maximum 5 minutes per speaker. If 3 consecutive speakers in Amendment withdrawn by a support or opposition, Chairperson majority decision or by agreement may call for speaker to the of mover and seconder. contrary and if none, the motion may be put). Mover's right of reply No right of reply (Maximum 5 minutes) Chairperson to put Motion Notice of intention to move further amendment maybe given. **Motion LOST Motion carried** (Foreshadowed) No further action, move to next Mover of original motion may exercise right of reply here No further discussion permitted, move to next item Chairperson to put Amendment Amendment CARRIED Amendment LOST Revocation, alteration or modification permitted at same Amendment to the original **Further relevant amendments** meeting by 75% majority if fresh motion becomes the new moved and seconded by person facts received during meeting. substantive motion who have not yet spoken (Maximum 5 minutes for mover and 5 minutes for other speakers) Further relevant amendments to the new substantive motion moved and seconded by persons If CARRIED, amendment who have not yet spoken become substantive motion (Maximum 5 minutes for mover and 5 minutes for other speakers) If LOST original motion put, and If CARRIED, substantive motion is Agenda put, either CARRIED or LOST either CARRIED of LOST

# **Appendix 4: Table of procedural motions**

Motion	Has the Chair discretion to refuse this Motion?	Is seconder required?	Is discussion in order?	Are amendments in order?	Is mover of procedural motion entitled	Are previous participants in debate entitled to	Can a speaker be interrupted by the mover of this	If lost, can motion be moved after an interval?	Position if an amendment is already before the Chair	Position if a procedural motion is already before the Chair	Remarks
(a) "That the meeting be adjourned to the next ordinary meeting, or to a stated time and place'	No	Yes	No	As to time and date only	No	No	No	Yes – 15 minutes	If carried, debate on the original motion and amendment are adjourned	If carried, debate on the original motion and procedural motion are adjourned	On resumption of debate, the mover of the adjournment speaks first.  Members who have spoken in the debate may not speak again  The mover of the
(b) "That the motion under debate be now put (closure motion)"	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes – 15 Minutes	If carried, only the amendment is put	If carried, only the procedural motion is put	The mover of the motion under debate is entitled to exercise a right of reply before the motion or amendment under debate is put
(c) "That the item of business being discussed be adjourned to a stated time and place"	No	Yes	No	As to time and date only	No	No	NO	Yes – 15 minutes	If carried, debate ion the original motion and amendment are adjourned	If carried, debate on the original motion and procedural motion are adjourned	

4												1
	Motion	Has the Chair discretion to refuse this Motion?	Is seconder required?	Is discussion in order?	Are amendments in order?	Is mover of procedural motion entitled to reply?	Are previous participants in debate entitled to move this	Can a speaker be interrupted by the mover of this motion?	If lost, can motion be moved after an interval?	Position if an amendment is already before the Chair	Position if a procedural motion is already before the Chair	Remarks
nt 1	"That the item of business being discussed does lie on the table and not be discussed at this meeting"	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	Yes – 15 minutes	If carried, the original motion and amendment are both laid on the table	Motion not in order	
Attachme	"That the item of business being discussed be referred (or referred back) to the community board or to the relevant committee"	No	Yes	No	As to committee, time for reporting back etc only	No	No	No	Yes – 15 minutes	If carried, the original motion and all amendments are referred to the committee	If carried, the procedural motion is deemed disposed of	
(f)	"Points of order"	No – but may rule against	No	Yes – at discretion of Chairperson	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Point of order takes precedence	Point of order takes precedence	See standing order 3.14

Attachment 1

1.

# **Appendix 5: Webcasting protocols**

The provisions are intended as a good practice guide to local authorities that are webcasting meetings or planning to do so.

- 1. The default shot will be on the Chairperson or a wide-angle shot of the meeting room.
- 2. Cameras will cover a member who is addressing the meeting. Cameras will also cover other key participants in a meeting, including staff when giving advice and members of the public when addressing the meeting during the public input time.
- 3. Generally interjections from other members or the public are not covered. However, if the Chairperson engages with the interjector, the interjector's reaction can be filmed.
- 4. PowerPoint presentations, recording of votes by division and other matters displayed by overhead projector may be shown.
- 5. Shots unrelated to the proceedings, or not in the public interest, are not permitted.
- 6. If there is general disorder or a disturbance from the public gallery, coverage will revert to the Chairperson.
- 7. Appropriate signage will be displayed both in and outside the meeting room alerting people that the proceedings are being web cast.

# **Appendix 6: Powers of a Chairperson**

This Appendix sets out the specific powers given to the Chairperson contained in various parts of these Standing Orders.

#### Chairperson to decide all questions

The Chairperson is to decide all questions where these standing orders make no provision or insufficient provision. The Chairperson's ruling is final and not open to debate.

## Chairperson to decide points of order

The Chairperson is to decide any point of order and may do so immediately after it has been raised or may first hear further argument before deciding. The ruling of the Chairperson upon any point of order is not open to any discussion and is final. No point of order may be raised during a division except by permission of the Chairperson.

#### Items not on the agenda

Major items not on the agenda may be dealt with at that meeting if so resolved by the community board and the Chairperson explains at the meeting at a time when it is open to the public the reason why the item was not listed on the agenda and the reason why discussion of the item cannot be delayed until a subsequent meeting.

Minor matters not on the agenda relating to the general business of the community board may be discussed if the Chairperson explains at the beginning of the meeting, at a time when it is open to the public, that the item will be discussed at that meeting, but no resolution, decision or recommendation may be made in respect of that item except to refer it to a subsequent meeting.

#### Chairperson's report

The Chairperson, by report, has the right to direct the attention of the community board to any matter or subject within the role or function of the community board.

#### Chairperson's recommendation

The Chairperson of any meeting may include on the agenda for that meeting a Chairperson's recommendation regarding any item brought before the meeting. The purpose of such a recommendation is to focus debate on a suggested motion.

#### Chairperson's voting

The Chairperson at any meeting has a deliberative vote and, in the case of equality of votes, has a casting vote where standing orders make such provision.

## **Motion in writing**

The Chairperson may require the mover of any motion or amendment to submit it in writing signed by the mover.

#### Motion in parts

The Chairperson may require any motion expressed in parts to be decided part by part.

#### **Notice of motion**

The Chairperson may direct the chief executive to refuse to accept any notice of motion which:

- (a) Is disrespectful or which contains offensive language or statements made with malice; or
- (b) Is not within the scope of the role or functions of the community board; or
- (c) Contains an ambiguity or statement of fact or opinion which cannot properly form part of an effective resolution, and the mover has declined to comply with such requirements as the chief executive may have made; or
- (d) Is concerned with matters which are already the subject of reports or recommendations from a committee to the meeting concerned.

Reasons for refusing a notice of motion should be provided to the proposer.

Where a notice of motion has been considered and agreed by the community board, no notice of any other motion which is, in the opinion of the Chairperson, to the same effect may be put again whilst such original motion stands.

#### **Action on previous resolutions**

If, in the opinion of the Chairperson the practical effect of a delay in taking action on a resolution which is subject to a notice of motion, would be equivalent to revocation of the resolution; or if repetitive notices of motion are considered by the Chairperson to be an attempt by a minority to frustrate the will of the meeting, action may be taken as though no such notice of motion had been given.

#### Repeat notice of motion

If in the opinion of the Chairperson, a notice of motion is substantially the same in purport and effect to any previous notice of motion which has been considered and rejected by the community board, no such notice of motion may be accepted within six months of consideration of the first notice of motion unless signed by not less than one third of the members of the community board, including vacancies.

#### Revocation or alteration of previous resolution

A Chairperson may recommend in a report to the community board the revocation or alteration of all or part of any resolution previously passed. In responding to the Chairperson's recommendation the meeting must act in accordance with these standing orders.

#### Chairperson may call a meeting

## The Chairperson:

- (a) May call a meeting to dispose of the business to be transacted following the lapsing of a meeting due to failure of a quorum, if such business cannot be delayed until the next meeting;
- (b) May requisition an extra meeting to be held at a specified time and place, in order to conduct specified business.

#### Irrelevant matter and needless repetition

The Chairperson's ruling preventing members when speaking to any motion or amendment from introducing irrelevant matters or indulging in needless repetition is final and not open to challenge.

#### Taking down words

The Chairperson may order words used and objected to by any member, to be recorded in the minutes, provided such objection is made at the time the words are used and not after any other members have spoken.

#### **Explanations**

The Chairperson may permit members to make a personal explanation in addition to speaking to a motion, and members who have already spoken, to explain some material part of a previous speech in the same debate.

#### **Chairperson rising**

Whenever the Chairperson rises during a debate any member then speaking or offering to speak is to be seated and members are to be silent so that the Chairperson may be heard without interruption.

#### Members may leave places

The Chairperson may permit members to leave their place while speaking.

#### **Priority of speakers**

The Chairperson must determine the order in which members may speak when two or more members indicate their wish to speak.

#### **Minutes**

The Chairperson is to sign the minutes and proceedings of every meeting once confirmed. The Chairperson and chief executive are responsible for confirming the correctness of the minutes of the last meeting of a community board prior to the next election of members.

#### **Questions of speakers**

The Chairperson may permit members to ask questions of speakers under public forum or deputations/presentations by appointment, for the purpose of obtaining information or clarification on matters raised by the speaker.

#### Withdrawal of offensive or malicious expressions

The Chairperson may call upon any member to withdraw any offensive or malicious expression and may require the member to apologise for the expression.

Any member who refuses to withdraw the expression or apologise, if required by the Chairperson, can be directed to withdraw from the meeting for a time specified by the Chairperson.

#### Chairperson's rulings

Any member who refuses to accept a ruling of the Chairperson, may be required by the Chairperson to withdraw from the meeting for a specified time.

#### Disorderly behaviour

The Chairperson may:

- (a) Require any member or member of the public whose conduct is disorderly or who is creating a disturbance, to withdraw immediately from the meeting for a time specified by the Chairperson.
- (b) Ask the meeting to hold in contempt, any member whose conduct is grossly disorderly and where the meeting resolves to find the member in contempt, that resolution must be recorded in the minutes.

#### Failure to leave meeting

If a member or member of the public who is required, in accordance with a Chairperson's ruling, to leave the meeting, refuses or fails to do so, or having left the meeting, attempts to re-enter without the permission of the Chairperson, any member of the police or officer or employee of the community board may, at the Chairperson's request, remove or exclude that person from the meeting.

#### Audio or audio visual attendance

Where the technology is available and a member is attending a meeting by audio or audio-visual link, the Chairperson must ensure that:

- (a) the technology for the link is available and of suitable quality
- (b) procedures for using the technology in the meeting will ensure that:
  - i. everyone participating in the meeting can hear each other
  - ii. the member's attendance by audio or audio-visual link does not reduce their accountability or accessibility in relation to the meeting
  - iii. the requirements of Part 7 of LGOIMA are met
  - iv. the requirements in these standing orders are met.

If the Chairperson is attending by audio or audio visual link then chairing duties will undertaken by the deputy chair or a member who is physically present

# Appendix 7: Process for removing a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson

- 1. At a meeting that is in accordance with this clause, a community may remove its Chairperson or deputy Chairperson from office.
- 2. If a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson is removed from office at that meeting, the community board may elect a new Chairperson or deputy Chairperson at that meeting.
- 3. A meeting to remove a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson may be called by:
  - (a) a resolution of the community board; or
  - (b) a requisition in writing signed by the majority of the total membership of the community board (excluding vacancies).
- 4. A resolution or requisition must:
  - (a) specify the day, time, and place at which the meeting is to be held and the business to be considered at the meeting; and
  - (b) indicate whether or not, if the Chairperson or deputy Chairperson, is removed from office, a new Chairperson or deputy Chairperson is to be elected at the meeting if a majority of the community board (excluding vacancies) so resolves.
- 5. A resolution may not be made and a requisition may not be delivered less than 21 days before the day specified in the resolution or requisition for the meeting.
- 6. The chief executive must give each member notice in writing of the day, time, place, and business of any meeting called under this clause not less than 14 days before the day specified in the resolution or requisition for the meeting.
- 7. A resolution removing a Chairperson or deputy Chairperson carries if a majority of the total membership of the community board (excluding vacancies) votes in favour of the resolution.
- cl. 18 Schedule 7, LGA 2002.

# **Appendix 8: Workshops**

#### **Definition of workshop**

Workshops, however described, provide opportunities for members to discuss specific matters, receive briefings and provide guidance for officials. Workshops are not meetings and cannot be used to either make decisions or come to agreements that are then confirmed without the opportunity for meaningful debate at a formal meeting.

#### **Application of standing orders to workshops**

Standing orders do not apply to workshops and briefings. The Chairperson or workshop organisers will decide how the workshop, briefing or working party should be conducted.

## Calling a workshop

Workshops, briefings and working parties may be called by:

- (a) a resolution of the community board
- (b) the community board Chairperson or
- (c) the chief executive.

#### **Process for calling workshops**

The chief executive will give at least 24 hours' notice of the time and place of the workshop and the matters to be discussed at it. Notice may be given by whatever means are reasonable in the circumstances. Any notice given must expressly:

- (a) state that the meeting is a workshop
- (b) advise the date, time and place
- (c) confirm that the meeting is primarily for the provision of information and discussion, and will not make any decisions or pass any resolutions.

Public notice of a workshop is not required and workshops can be either open to the public or public excluded.

# **Appendix 9: Sample order of business**

# **Open section**

- (a) Apologies
- (b) Declarations of interest
- (c) Confirmation of minutes
- (d) Leave of absence
- (e) Acknowledgements and tributes
- (f) Petitions
- (g) Public input
- (h) Local and/or community board input
- (i) Extraordinary business
- (j) Notices of motion
- (k) Reports of committees
- (I) Reports of the chief executive and staff
- (m) Chairperson and/or elected members' reports (information)

#### **Public excluded section**

- (n) Reports of committees
- (o) Reports of the chief executive and staff
- (p) Chairperson and elected members' reports (for information)

# Appendix 10: Process for raising matters for a decision

Matters requiring a decision may be placed on an agenda of a meeting by a:

- report of chief executive
- report of a Chairperson
- report of a committee
- notice of motion from a member.

Where a matter is urgent and has not been placed on an agenda, it may be brought before a meeting as extraordinary business by a:

- report of chief executive
- report of Chairperson

Although out of time for a notice of motion, a member may bring an urgent matter to the attention of the meeting through the meeting chair.

#### 7.4 FINANCIAL REPORT

#### Information Only - No Decision Required

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

**Report Author:** Bryce Grammer, Financial Accountant

Report Number: RMCB17-07-04

# 1 Summary

- 1.1 The financial report for the year ending 30 June 2017 is attached (Attachment 1). The financial report is in draft form as the Annual Report is still to be finalised and audit undertaken.
- 1.2 The net financial position for the year is a surplus of \$33,553.
- 1.3 Overall expenditure is at 66% of budget, which is well below the full year budgeted spend. This is mainly due to minimal Special Projects expenditure during the year.
- 1.4 The income from the Motueka Sunday Market is only slightly below budget. The majority of the income from the market is received over the summer months.
- 1.5 Closed account interest has been earned on the positive Motueka Community Board opening balance. This rate was adjusted to 2% for the quarter beginning 1 April 2017, as per the Council's Treasury Risk Management Policy.
- 1.6 The net position of the Community Board's overall funds as at 30 June 2017 is a balance of \$105,841.

#### 2 Draft Resolution

That the Motueka Community Board receives the Financial Report RMCB17-07-04.

# 3 Attachments

1. Motueka Financial Summary June 2017

97

# TASMAN DISTRICT COUNCIL Motueka Community Board June 2017

	Month	Month	Month	YTD	Annual	YTD
	Actual	Budget	Budget %	Actual	Budget	Budget %
Charges						
Remuneration						
Chairperson Monthly Salary	\$1,156	\$1,141	101%	\$13,570	\$13,687	99%
Members(3)	\$1,734	\$1,813	96%	\$17,643	\$21,751	81%
Member Reimbursements	\$0	\$0	0%	\$2,261	\$4,176	54%
<u>Miscellaneous</u>						
<u>pages</u> <u>rate</u> Photocopying 0 0.1	\$0	\$226	0%	\$433	\$2,715	16%
Community Board discretionary fund	\$2,445	\$439	557%	\$7,210		
Youth Development Fund	\$419	\$83	505%	\$1,414	\$1,000	141%
Community Board Expenses	\$0	\$0	-	\$456	\$0	_
Cost of Elections	\$105	\$104	101%	\$1,253	\$1,253	100%
Advertising	\$0	\$0	-	\$450	\$0	-
Special Projects	\$2,533	\$4,046	63%	\$19,765	\$48,549	41%
T 1 4	±0.000	47.050	107%	* / A AFF	*00 20F	66%
Total Charges	\$8,392	\$7,852	107%	\$64,455	\$98,395	66%
<u>Less</u>	A7 1/0	47.045	99%	<b>*</b> 04.010	*04 F70	99%
CCB Rate	-\$7,168	, ,		-\$86,010	,	
Sunday Market Income	-\$1,484	-\$870	171%	-\$10,317	-\$10,435	99%
Closed Account Interest	-\$143	-\$115	124%	-\$1,681	-\$1,383	122%
Net Charges June 2017	-\$ 403	<u>-\$ 348</u>		<u>-\$ 33,553</u>	<u>\$ -</u>	

#### Equity

Opening Credit Balance 1 July 2016 Net Surplus June 2017 Closing Credit Balance 30 June 2017 \$ 72,288 \$ 33,553 \$ 105,841

Notes to the accounts					
A) Discretionary Fund			B) Youth Development Fund		
Balance brought forward from 2015/16	\$	4,631	Balance brought forward from 2015/16	\$	1,259
Plus Budget Allocation	\$	5,264	Plus Budget Allocation	\$	1,000
Available Funds	\$	9,895	Available Funds	-\$	2,259
Less Expenditure	\$	7,210	Less Expenditure	\$	1,414
Less Commitments	\$	-	Less Commitments	\$	-
Remaining Balance	\$	2,685	Remaining Balance	\$	845
Discretionary Fund Expenditure			Youth Development Fund Expenditure		
Community Christmas Dinner	\$	500	Special Olympics	\$	495
Motueka Memorial RSA	\$	495	Youth Aid	\$	500
Motueka Memorial RSA	\$	500	Nelson Youth Theatre	\$	419
High School grant	\$	500			
Project De Vine	\$	500	Total Expenditure to June 2017	-\$	1,414
MDNSS Community Grant	\$	300			
Saint Peter Chanel School	\$	499	C) Special Projects		
Our Kai Motueka	\$	280	Balance brought forward from 2015/16	\$	48,546
Our Kai Motueka	\$	490	Plus Budget Allocation	\$	48,549
Tarrant Memorial Discretionary Fund	\$	500	Available Funds	\$	97,095
Vision Motueka Discretionary Fund	\$	471	Less Expenditure	\$	19,765
RSA refund	-\$	270	Less Commitments	\$	-
Big Brothers Big Sister	\$	500	Remaining Balance	\$	77,330
Crafty Tarts Motueka	\$	500			
Everyday Limited T/A IdealCup	\$	500	Special Projects Expenditure		
Motueka Events Charitable Trust	\$	500	Security Cameras	\$	5,000
Motueka District Toy Library	\$	445	Keep Motueka Beautiful	\$	2,000
			Bench Seat	\$	2,150
Total Expenditure to June 2017	\$	7,210	Restoration of Tarrant Memorial	\$	3,700
			Drinking Fountain	\$	6,915
				\$	19,765

#### 7.5 ACTION LIST

#### Information Only - No Decision Required

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Heather Spiers, Senior Customer Services Officer - Motueka

**Report Number:** RMCB17-07-05

# 1 Summary

1.1 Attached is the Action Sheet for the Motueka Community Board to review.

#### 2 Draft Resolution

That the Motueka Community Board receives the Action List report; RMCB17-07-05

3	Attachments	
1.	Action Sheet	101
2.	Vacant New Parcel Summary	105
3.	High Street Subsidence email from Steve Elkington	109

Attachment 1

# `Note – updated from the Board meeting of 18<sup>th</sup> April 2017

Item	Minute/Action	Accountable Officer	Status
July 2015	Drain at the intersection of Whakarewa and Queen Victoria Streets	Steve Elkington	Steve has spoken to David Ogilvie regarding extending the piped drain. When the intersection was upgraded the open drain was piped back a sufficient safe distance. There are no plans to extend the pipe further however, Chris Pawson will be asked to review the site and if recommended, the work will be included in the Council's Minor Improvement Matrix for future construction.  8 November 2016 – The Board considers that this drain is dangerous and asks that the Engineering Services staff give it urgent consideration  21/3 Richard Kirby reported this has been noted. It will be put on the priority list and staff will work their way through it.  16/05/17: Board to continue to monitor action item.
	Examine trees on High Street and report back to the Board	Beryl Wilkes	Beryl has asked an arborist to review the trees and she will liaise with Engineering staff about any proposed upgrades to High Street.  13/02 – Beryl advised this is a work in progress.  21/02/17 – The Board asked for a progress report on this review and that the trees at Memorial Park be included.  21/03/17 – Beryl to advise.  16/05/17 - Ask Beryl and Engineering staff for status report on serious concerns over drainage and visibility issues.  20/05/17: Emailed Beryl requesting status report  20/06/2017: NZTA involved in High Street upgrade study.

Page 101 Agenda

Item	Minute/Action	Accountable Officer	Status
December 2016	Investigate criteria for friendly town status on the Motorhome Caravan Association website and report back to the Board	Board Members Hutt/Dowler	We do not currently meet all their criteria. Board Member Hutt keen to progress further and will obtain more information. Claire Hutt to report back at April meeting.  Cr Ogilvie stated that a 2 <sup>nd</sup> dump station is needed. Barry Dowler to investigate.  17/05/17 – Board Member Hutt to report back June meeting.  20/06/17: Board Members Hutt & Dowler to investigate potential dump station sites.
	Facilitate change to Motueka Community Board Standing Orders to include presence of Youth Council members at Board meetings	Cr Canton/ Member Hutt	Will be included in Chairman's Report for 18 April 2017 meeting  17/05/17 – Board Member Hutt & Cr Canton to work with Lani Evans, Claire Webster and the Motueka Youth Council Co-ordinator to progress. Staff to report back to Board.  20/06/17 – Lani Evans to ask Claire Webster/Susan Edwards for correct wording to amend Standing Orders.
April 2017	Beryl Wilkes to report back on how best to progress the installation of fitness equipment in a local park (Decks Reserve).	Beryl Wilkes	Heather to email Susan Edwards & Beryl Wilkes inviting Beryl to the July MCB meeting in order to speak on any outstanding matters. 21-06-2017 Email sent. Board members discussing possibility of a survey as to where this should be installed. Decks Reserve, The estuary or Memorial Park. Beryl attending July meeting.
	The Motueka Community Board requests the Council to seek public feedback on Easter Trading for 2018 to allow the Motueka Sunday Market and Mapua Easter Fair to trade.	Chair Maru	16/05/17 – Chair will report back to July meeting.

Page 102 Agenda

	Cr Ogilvie will meet with Reserves and Facilities Manager to discuss the programme of work for Motueka Cemetery going forward. Will report back to the Board.	Cr Ogilvie	Waiting for progress.
	Board Members agreed to refer the letter from Grey Power re-Tudor St crossing to Jamie McPherson for his comments. Board Member Dowler agreed to follow up on this.	Board Member Dowler	17/05/17 – Board Member Dowler spoke to Jamie who said that a discussion needs to be had with NZTA as this is a street scaping issue. Are there other options?
	Motueka Community Board to be represented at future workshops and that the Board will continue to be included in the consultation process (including reviewing submissions).	Anna Gerraty/Beryl Wilkes	
May 2017	Invite Matt Arnold Kelly/Sgt Rob Crawford to meet with Community Board Members	Chair Maru	Letter sent 22/05/17. Chair to respond to Inspector Arnold-Kelly's email agreeing to him attending the MCB August meeting. See correspondence.
	Write to Beryl Wilkes re feasibility of creating an access way to Decks Reserve from Motueka i-site.	Heather Spiers	Email sent 19/05/17. July report back
	Service Request for road subsidence outside Parson's Motors at 85 High Street needing to be fixed	Heather Spiers	Service Request sent 18/05/17.  Megan Bell, Engineering Administration Officer responded with, "Steve Elkington has inspected the site and identified extent of work to new road maintenance contractor Downer. The new road maintenance contract starts on 1 July 2017. I am not sure of a timeframe at this point – we will have more accurate information once the new contract kicks in and we receive their forward works programme".  06/07/17: See attached email from Steve Elkington.

June 2017	Report on "current" service requests in the Motueka Ward.	Heather Spiers	21/06/2017 emailed Susan Edwards and Suzanne Westley.
	Motueka Army Cadet Building	Chair Maru	Brent to read email and information, have a discussion with Peter Wilson and respond to Denise Puha.
	Information on the Council's Special Housing Area and Housing Accord to be sent to Mr Ian Williamson	Heather Spiers	Completed. 22/06/2016.
	Service Request for a walkway through to The Warehouse carpark from the centre island between New World and The Warehouse.	Heather Spiers	Service Request submitted 22/06/2017. Staff Response: "E-mail sent explaining the path would be on private property so outside Council jurisdiction".
	Thorp's Bush Upgrade. Enquiries to be made with Reserves and Facilities whether this would have an impact on the Reserves and Management Plan. Can this be on the Special Projects Fund list?	Chair Maru	
	Cemetery plantings and tidiness. Is it possible to get the Motueka Youth Council involved? Can this be part of the Special Projects fund?	Lani Evans	
	Available sections in the Motueka Ward	Chair Maru	See attachment

Attachment 2

# 09 Dec 2013 - 30 Jun 2014

#### **Count by Zone**

Residential	34
Rural Residential	0
Rural Residential Serviced	0
Rural 3	10
Rural 2	1
Rural 1	10

# **Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Brightwater	7
Coastal Tasman Area (CTA)	15
Mapua/Ruby Bay	7
Motueka	1
Richmond	13
Riwaka	1
Takaka	1
Tasman	1
Upper Moutere	1
Wakefield	4
Moutere/Waimea Ward Balance	4

# 01 Jul 2014 - 30 Jun 2015

#### **Count by Zone**

Residential	152
Rural Residential	10
Rural Residential Serviced	2
Rural 3	48
Rural 2	9
Rural 1	1

#### **Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Brightwater	21
Kaiteriteri	2
Mapua/Ruby Bay	13
Marahau	7
Motueka	48
Richmond	61
Riwaka	1
Upper Moutere	1
Wakefield	3
Golden Bay Ward Balance	3
Motueka Ward Balance	6
Richmond Ward Balance	1
Moutere-Waimea Ward Bal	55

# 06 Jul 2015 - 03 Jan 2016

#### **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Zone**

Commercial	1
Residential	101
Rural Residential	6
Rural Residential Serviced	4
Rural 3	17
Rural 2	3
Rural 1	2
Rural 1 deferred Residential	2
Tourist Services	1

# 04 Jan 2016 - 03 Jul 2016

#### **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Zone**

Residential	85
Rural Residential	5
Rural 3	20
Rural 2	6
Rural 1	2
Rural 1 Coastal	1

# **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Brightwater	12
Mapua/Ruby Bay	4
Motueka	3
Pohara/Ligar/Tata	1
Richmond	87
Takaka	1
Tasman	1
Lakes-Murchison Ward Bal	2
Motueka Ward Balance	7
Moutere-Waimea Ward Bal	18

# **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Kaiteriteri	4
Mapua/Ruby Bay	25
Motueka	38
Richmond	24
St Arnaud	1
Wakefield	1
Golden Bay Ward Balance	1
Motueka Ward Balance	1
Moutere Waimea Ward Bal	24

Attachment 2

Richmond Ward Balance

# 04 Jul 2016 - 01 Jan 2017

## **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Zone**

Residential	58
Rural Residential	12
Rural Residential Serviced	1
Rural 3	17
Rural 2	6
Rural 1	1

# 02 Jan 2017 - 02 Apr 2017

#### **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Zone**

Residential	43
Rural Residential	1
Rural 2	3
Rural 1	1
Rural 1 deferred Residential	15

# **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Coastal Tasman Area	18
Collingwood	1
Mapua/Ruby Bay	22
Motueka	9
Richmond	29
St Arnaud	1
Golden Bay Ward Balance	12
Motueka Ward Balance	3

# **New Vacant Parcel - Count by Settlement (Growth Model)**

Coastal Tasman Area	2
Mapua/Ruby Bay	39
Motueka	2
Richmond	17
Motueka Ward Balance	1
Moutere-Waimea Ward Balance	2

### **Heather Spiers**

From:

Steve Elkington

Sent:

Wednesday, 5 July 2017 4:58 p.m.

To: Cc: Heather Spiers

Megan Bell; Jamie McPherson; Brian McManus; 'David.Bright@downer.co.nz' RE: SR 1709678 - High St Footpath

Hi Heather,

Subject:

In regards to this footpath complaint, I have since spoken to Mr Williamson.

I had a look at the section of path not long after the complaint was received and referred it to Downers recently, for future programming. The footpath along here in front of the car yard to the South Pacific Hotel requires replaced. The kerb also ideally needs replaced and I have mentioned this to NZTA.

I understand the Motueka Streetscape project, is programmed for next year 2018/19, I therefore believe we should hold off doing any renewal work until then and Mr Williamson was in agreement with this approach. I will check to make sure any raised joins are ground down.

In terms of the slump in the roadway, NZTA has been notified.

#### Cheers

Steve Elkington – Senior Road Engineer Tasman District Council DDI (03) 543 8575 Private Bag 4 Fax (03) 543 9524 Richmond 7050 www.tasman.govt.nz

Agenda

### 7.6 SPECIAL PROJECTS ACTION SHEET

# **Decision Required**

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Heather Spiers, Senior Customer Services Officer - Motueka

Report Number: RMCB17-07-06

### 1 Summary

1.1 Attached is the Special Projects Fund Action Sheet for the Board to review.

### 2 Draft Resolution

That the Motueka Community Board receives the Special Projects Action Sheet report RMCB17-07-06;

# 3 Attachments

1. Special Projects Fund Action Sheet

113

# SPECIAL PROJECTS FUND ACTION SHEET - UPDATED MAY 2017

Approved Projects	Funds Awarded	Status
Motueka Historic Wharf landscaping	\$3000	Emailed confirmation to Beryl that MCB Special Projects Fund covering costs up to \$3000.  Update 05/05/17: This is on Reserves & Facilities work programme to be carried out.
Saltwater Baths Flood Gate	\$5000	Emailed confirmation to Beryl that Special Projects Fund to pay for this. Beryl waiting on invoice to put towards GL code. Requested Beryl Wilkes follow up with Bob Cook to request an invoice for this work, which is now complete.
Motueka District Museum	\$10,000	Email correspondence ongoing.
Entranceway to the Northern end of Marahau Beach	\$5000	This is on unformed legal road. Not Council land. Letter/email sent to Marahau Sandy Bay Ratepayers & Residents Association advising them of approved grant and asking them to send invoice also to send Accountability paperwork within nine months. This email has been received and confirmation given by John Ayling that the terms and conditions of this grant are acknowledged and understood. Beryl still waiting to hear from Marahau/Sandy Bay R.A 20/06/17 - Chair Maru to respond to letter from John Ayling.
Play equipment for the Newhaven Reserve	\$5000	Beryl Wilkes waiting on Marahau Residents Association to contact her. Beryl still waiting to hear from Marahau/Sandy Bay R.A

Approved Projects	Funds Awarded	Status
Wallace Street footpath – Staff estimate this will cost between \$10,000 and \$15,000.	Beryl Wilkes/Steve Elkington/Richard	Steve Elkington noted Beryl was concerned about tree roots but he and Steve Richards are looking again at it on 23/03/17. Beryl will update.
	Kirby	Update 03/04/17: Beryl and Steve looking into designs.
		Request staff to report to next meeting.
		Update 05/05/2017: Still working on options so the roots of the trees that are there won't be disturbed during any construction. We may need to look at alternative options for providing all weather access along this portion of the route.
		Board members to have further discussions with staff with quotes from CJ Industries.
		Board Member Dowler to ask for new quotes from CJ Industries and Concrete Metals.

Deferred Projects	Accountable Officer	Status
Kerb and channel Old Wharf Road		Note, staff estimate this work will cost approximately \$15,000.
Welcome to Motueka sign		Defer until ongoing maintenance costs, location of signage and roading health & safety issues are resolved.
		Chair Maru will follow up with Jamie McPherson to identify where this is up to.
		16/05/17 Chair Maru to report back to next meeting

Agenda

Deferred Projects	Accountable Officer	Status
Footpath on the southern side of Courtney Street		Staff estimate this work will cost approximately \$15,000.  Update from Steve Elkington 04/05/17: It is envisaged, that a standard width path ideally in concrete would be constructed from the hospital entrance in Courtney St to High St. Concrete can be the most cost effective material and while more expensive possibly by a third over Asphalt, its longevity far outweighs it. The new path could be procured from local contractors who have approved H&S status with the council. Or, alternatively, when a contract is let this year for similar work, this site could be added. While this work could be done in Winter, the re-sowing of the affected berm would better suited to Spring. A Quotation method of procuring for a small job of this value would be considered appropriate with at least 3 contractors pricing however, it would be advisable to request a quotation from all of those contractors on Council's Suppliers Panel for "Small Civil Works".  22/05/17 — Board Member Dowler received quote from CJ Industries for pathway (to TDC specifications) to be laid totaling \$12,155.50.

# 8 CORRESPONDENCE

### 8.1 CORRESPONDENCE

### Information Only - No Decision Required

Report To: Motueka Community Board

Meeting Date: 18 July 2017

Report Author: Heather Spiers, Senior Customer Services Officer - Motueka

Report Number: RMCB17-07-07

# 1 Summary

1.1 This report includes incoming and outgoing correspondence during May and June 2017.

# 2 Draft Resolution

That the Motueka Community Board receives the Correspondence report RMCB17-07-07;

3	Attachments	
1.	Letter to Motueka Fire Brigade	119
2.	Letter to Mr John Ayling	121
3.	Letter to Tasman Youth Council Co-ordinator	123
4.	Discretionary Fund Accountability - Motueka Community Christmas Dinner Committee	125
5.	Discretionary Fund Accountability - Project De-Vine	127
6.	Motueka Community Board Media Release - SH60 Motueka Investigation	133



25 June 2017



Chief Mike Riddell Motueka Fire Brigade High Street Motueka

Dear Mike,

I would just like to extend on behalf of the Motueka Community Board our congratulations on the commissioning of the new Motueka Fire Tanker.

Attending your ceremony on Saturday showed the extent of both the communities support and the dedication from your team in providing what is an essential fire fighting tool for our community. I would like to acknowledge the work of those mentioned and also pay special mention to your leadership in facilitating this project.

As Councilor Canton made mention, the community is indebted to the services of your team of dedicated and committed fire fighters and we thank you for your continued and dedicated service to the Motueka Community.

Yours sincerely

Brent Maru

Motueka Community Board Chair

Tasman District Council P.O. Box 123 Motueka 7143

Email: motue kacommunity board@tasman.govt.nz



25 June 2017



Mr John Ayling
The Secretary
Marahau / Sandy Bay Ratepayers & Residents Association Inc
c/Split Ridge
102 Tokonngawa Drive
RD2
Motueka 7197

Dear John,

Thank you for your letter dated 6<sup>th</sup> June 2017 in regards to the use of the Motueka Community Board's Special Project Grant of \$5000 to enhance the northern end of the Beach at Marahau.

Noting your letter and acknowledging your honesty and desire to best utilise the funds from the Special Projects Fund, rather than forwarding funds for a potentially undetermined project we instead invite you to resubmit an alternative project that for approval for the \$5,000 to be utilised for. Please note that any proposed project must fit the criteria of the Board's Special Projects Funding Criteria.

I hope that this offer is useful to your association and our Board remains committed to supporting and working with you.

Yours sincerely

**Brent Maru** 

Motueka Community Board Chair

Tasman District Council P.O. Box 123 Motueka 7143

Email: motuekacommunityboard@tasman.govt.nz





25 June 2017

The Coordinator Motueka Cluster Tasman Youth Council P.O. Box 237 Motueka

Dear Tiegan,

Thank you for arranging the attendance of both May and Pacey to the June Motueka Community Board Meeting.

Can I please extend to both May and Pacey a huge congratulations in the professionalism, and maturity that they presented to the board and as a result I am happy to advise that all board members unanimously agreed following the presentation that we would like to invite up to two members of the Motueka Cluster to each Motueka Community Board meeting commencing in July 2017.

This is a monumental achievement that has been in planning for some months, and has been greatly accelerated by the impressions left by your two members. I look forward to working around the board table with your youth councilors over the followings months.

I do need to highlight that youth councilors are encourage to actively partake in discussions, debates, offer suggestions but unfortunately are not permitted within our standing orders to move or vote on motions or decisions.

I will leave it to you to work with your youth councilors to develop an opportunity for all those interested to share the positions and if you need any support or help from our board, Motueka Community Board Member Claire Hutt will be your first point of contact.

Yours sincerely

Brent Maru

Motueka Community Board Chair

Cc: Board Member Hutt

Tasman District Council P.O. Box 123 Motueka 7143

Email: motuekacommunityboard@tasman.govt.nz





Motueka Community Board Accountability Form
Name of Organisation Motucka Community Christmas Since.
We, being Officers/Accountant of the above organisation hereby certify that we received a grant from the Motueka Community Board Discretionary Fund.
The grant was spent as follows and we attach evidence of expenditure (receipts, invoices or statement signed by the organisation).  Couplands Bakerses. \$ 2(9-90)
New World Matucka \$ 734-43 Paper Plus Matucka \$ 76-98
Amount allocated: \$ 500-00 Total 521-31
Amount unspent: \$
With this grant we were able to deliver the following benefits to the community:
He Motucka Counting on Christings has
2016.
Name and signature:
Signature: JUDULIV 4
Position: Chair Derron
Telephone: 0278159134  Date: 12617
Please return this form when your project is finished or within 9 months of receiving the grant to:  Executive Assistant - Corporate  Tasman District Council  Private Bag 4  Richmond 7050
(Please use a separate form for each grant received.)



Richmond Lane 2 GST: 30-449-851 18-Sep-2016 13:23:59 Tax Invoice: 0190021801761

FRUIT CAKE UNICED 1.4KG Total Transaction Value: Includes GST of: 10 \$219.90 \$219.90 \$28.68

Visa

\$219.90

You were -ed by Mandy

# cheque 0000 25 Paperplus

Paper Plus Motueka

 Code
 Qty
 Price
 Disc
 %
 Extn

 COPY PAPER CANON OFFICE A4
 80GSM
 WHT RM

 2000000145693
 1
 7.99
 7.99

 INK CART OEM HP 61
 COMBO PACK
 CR311AA

 2000026983279
 1
 58.99
 58.99

 BOOKLET XMAS
 2016
 1

 2000045751729
 1
 10.00
 10.00

Total (inc GST of \$ 10.03) \$ 76.98
PAPERPLUS MOTUEKA
151 HIGH STREET
MOTUEKA,7120

\*-----\*
TERMINAL 08039301 TRAN 027581
TIME 05DEC 11:54 ACCT CHEQUE
EFTPOS ....3057
AUTHORISATION
PURCHASE NZD76.98
TOTAL NZD76.98

ACCEPTED

# 000033

# New World Motueka

Phone: 03-523-6245 TAX INVOICE GST NO: 62-071-389

Rec# 0051198616 Date 23/12/2016 15:16:32 Operator LANE 5 Lane 5 New World Clubcard: 601435...8548

HANDEE TOWEL LONG WHI \$4.19 EA = MEADON FRESH FRESH CR 4 @ \$12.49 EA = \$49.96 3 @ \$5.29 EA = \$15.87 GREATER HUMMHUS GLORI \$15.87 # Savings GREATER HUMMN 3 @ -\$0.80 -\$2.40 \* GREATER HUMMMUS RST.G 18 \$5.29 EA = Savings GREATER HUMMM -\$0.80 -\$0.80 × PANS GLOVE RUBBER FLO \$1.99 EA = \$3.98 PAMS GLOVE RUBBER FLO 2 8 \$1.99 EA = \$8.99 EA = \$3.98 MAINLAND CHEESE BLOCK \$8,99 MAINLAND CHEESE BLOCK \$10.49 EA = 10 \$10.49 C Savings MAINLAND CHEE 10 -\$1.00 VALUE SIDE PLATE 7INC \$3.29 EA = \$9.87 ANCHOR CREAM CHEESE S 10 \$4.29 EA = ANCHOR CREAM CHEESE L 3 8 \$4.29 EA = PAMS KITCHEN BAMBOO T \$2.99 EA = \$2.99 \$9.00 PAMS JELLY LINE 80G 12 0 \$0.75 EA = HELLERS BIERSTICKS HI \$5.09 EA = \$10.18 \$4.50 PAMS JELLY BOYSEMBERR PAMS JELLY RASPBERRY \$0.75 EA = COPPER KETTLE 150G HO \$3.49 EA = -\$0.80 = Savings COPPER KETTLE FREEDOM FARMS FREE RA -\$2.40 C \$7.59 EA = 10 BUDGET SAUCE 1L TOMAT \$3.29 EA = \$2.79 EA = GOLDEN SUN GHERKINS 6 BISTO GRAVY PONDER LI \$2.79 \$6.49 EA = Savings BISTO GRAVY P 18 -\$1.00 BERTOLLI O/OIL SPRAY MASTERFOODS GRINDER P \$5.49 EA = \$5,49 \$6.65 EA = Savinge MASTERFOODS G -\$0.56 MASTERFOODS GRINDER S \$6.65 \* Savings HASTERFOODS G -\$0.56 OPIES COCKTAIL ONIONS 3 0 \$3.99 FA = PAMS ORIGANUM 15G POU \$0.99 EA = \$5.94 ALFA ONE OIL EX.VIR.O 18 \$11.99 EA = \$11.99 Savings ALFA ONE OIL BUDGET DISHMASH LIQUI -\$1.30 \$1.59 EA \$3,18

Total including GST \$234.18
(Fee \$0.25) Cheque \$234.43

(\*) Promotional Savings -\$5.62
(C) Clubcard Savings -\$4.40

Today you saved -\$10.02

All prices include GST Thank You for shopping New World

Our Shopping Hours are
Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun
7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30 7.30
9:00 9:00 9:00 9:00 9:00 9:00



### **Heather Spiers**

From: Wendy Byrne

**Sent:** Tuesday, 13 June 2017 9:00 a.m.

To: Heather Spiers

Subject: FW: Motueka Community Board Discretionary Grants

Attachments: Project De-Vine Stage #6 FINANCIAL REPORT to 20170608.docx; Riwaka Working

Bees Transaction details report 20170608.xlsx; Aurora August has plenty of Old

man's beard vines to cut 20170506.JPG; Riwaka #5 working bee article

20170506.docx

From: Chris Rowse [mailto:11nikaus@gmail.com]

Sent: Thursday, 8 June 2017 10:07 p.m.

To: Wendy Byrne < Wendy. Byrne@tasman.govt.nz>

Subject: Re: Motueka Community Board Discretionary Grants

Hi Wendy

Here is our report for the use of your grant over this last year.

Please find enclosed the Report and Transaction details and article about one of the working bees. The work in your area is shared 50:50 with the Nelson Building Society - Motueka branch.

We wish to apply again in the spring if that is still possible.

Thanks for your support.

Cheers

Chris

On Tue, Aug 9, 2016 at 8:40 AM, Chris Rowse < 11nikaus@gmail.com > wrote:

Dear Wendy

Here is our application and report from the grant we had last year. Please note that we have changed our Name to Project De-Vine Trust and are now an independent Charitable Trust. We are GST registered can we add GST to the \$500? If not, please let me know and I can send the application with this changed.

Do we need to arrange a local to come to the meeting? We have had so much publicity from the supportive local papers you are probably fed up with reading about us. If we have enough time to organise it, we can ask one of our many supporters to come to talk to the board.

Ideally we would like to make two applications per year - is it ok to ask for this at the MCB meeting? This would allow us to run the working bees without applying to other funders. We will look for some business funding in the meantime so we can expand our support of the Motueka ward area to clear more and more areas of Old man's beard.

Kind regards Chris (Rowse) Chairperson Project De-Vine Trust

Wendy Byrne | Community Development Customer Service Officer DDI (03) 543 8400

1

# **Project De-Vine**

# "Clearing the pest vines out of Golden Bay

# and around Abel Tasman National Park"

Project De-Vine held its fifth working bee in the Riwaka to Marahau area on Saturday 6<sup>th</sup> May:

The owners, local supporters, Project De-Vine team leader and other staff members, Motueka High School teachers and pupils, as well as keen weedbusting supporters from around the region spent the morning killing 300 Old man's beard's and 30 plus Banana passion vines.

Twenty five people worked to tackle the vines on the slopes at Fraser's orchard's with regenerating native trees and after the tea break continued around the shelter belts at Fairfield orchard up the road. Bruce Fraser (the landowner) was very pleased to host the working bee and was thankful for the help received. The Fairfield orchard owners are keen to get on top the overwhelming numbers of vines and will host the next working bee in two weeks time on Saturday 20<sup>th</sup> May (see the flyer on our website: www.projectde-vinetrust.org.nz). It has helped to inspire them to be more active in what can be seen as an endless task, but helps the wind flow through the fruit trees.

Project De-Vine's Assistant Manager Emma Stephen, who organised the working bee, says "It was a great turnout and great to show the High school students how to control the vines. We had some who had been before and some new to 'de-vining', we demonstrated how to deal with vines by the "Cut and Paste" method and supplied free bottles of gel to kill the vines on their own or other properties". The bottles and expenses are covered by our sponsors - Nelson Building Society, Motueka Community Board and Cut'n'paste - based on Waiheke Island who supplies the gel at very generous rates. We want to show landowners that it is possible to control large numbers of pest vines which often appear overwhelming. We have achieved this in Golden Bay on many properties. In conjunction with Project Janszoon, we are working around the boundaries of Abel Tasman National Park to achieve more control of pest plants.

Heidi James, who is a Motueka High School teacher and Environmental education coordinator organised four students to come along with family members and two other teachers with their family.

"It is great to be able to get out and help in our community. Hearing of the effect these vines have, from the Orchard Owner, and what a difference these working bees have made is great. It was great to see the dead vines from last time and to hear that there were less vines than previous. It is nice to know we are making a difference to our community and helping to protect our Native Bush."

The person in the photo is Aurora August - Mother of Motueka High School's Environment Captain Zion August. "I was not sure how my daughter (Zion) would get on with the working

### PROJECT DE-VINE TRUST FINANCIAL REPORT

# WORKING BEES – RIWAKA to MARAHAU plus support of other weedbusting groups in the area to 7/6/2017

Costs for 2 Working Bees: held on 12/05/2017 & 26/05/2017 and our "swap a bottle" scheme for the Riwaka to Marahau landowners, shared 50:50 between Motueka Community Board and Nelson Building Society Motueka

#### **EXPENSES:**

- 1. Weed Contractor to Lead the working bees Emma Stephen and assistant
  - a. Total cost of two working bees

\$646.75

- 2. Chemicals and Squeeze Bottles to distribute and refill
  - a. Cut'n'Paste Bottles and Chemicals

\$244.75

3. Reporting, posting on website, articles to local papers \$108.50

# TOTAL EXPENSE for TWO WORKING BEES and "Swap a bottle scheme" \$ 1000.00

#### INCOME:

Motueka Community Board Grant (13/11/2015)

\$ 500

NBS Bank Motueka Branch 2016 Donation (14/6/2016)

\$ 500

**TOTAL INCOME** 

\$1000.00

### Working bee report:

We had hoped to have a working bee in last spring, but the weather was so bad that we needed to delay it.

We held a working bee four weeks ago. See attachment article and photo. we have linked with the Motueka High School and had four "youth ambassadors" and their families come to help. They killed 300 Old man's beard's and 30 plus Banana passion vines.

The next one was on Sat 26<sup>th</sup> May – the weather was cold and showery, but a few skilled volunteers turned up and they killed 100+ Old man's beard vines. We will continue to have working bees as and when we can.

Thanks for your support

MYOB / Excel

			<b>Project De-Vine Trust</b> 12 Motupipi Street Takaka 7110	<b>Vine Trust</b> pl Street 7110			
	Acc	unos	t Transactions	Account Transactions [Accrual]			
	ID No.	Src	Date	Memo/Pavee	Dahit	Crodit	N HO
4-6010	Mot Community Board Grant CR000017	8	18/00/2018 Mo	16/00/2016 Mothology Committee Bossel: TDC		1000	200
	Motueka Community Board Grant Total	ś	ON OTOTOGO	More Colling Board, 100	\$0.00	\$500.00	\$500.00 KIWAKA
4-6101	Motueka NBS Grant GJ000016	ច	31/12/2016 Mo	31/12/2016 Motueka NBS Grant		\$500.00	\$500.00 RIWAKA
	Motueka NBS Grant Total				\$0.00	\$500.00	
5-6010		2	12/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	phen, Emma	\$192.50		RIWAKA
	00000290	2	12/05/2017 Bea	12/05/2017 Beaupere, Marion	\$110.00		RIWAKA
5-6201	NBS Working Bees 00000303	2	26/05/2017 Bea	26/05/2017 Beaupere, Marion	\$121.00		RIWAKA
	00000311	2	26/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	aphen, Emma	\$223.25		RIWAKA
	Control Work Total				\$646.75	\$0.00	
5-6202	NBS Working Bees chemicals GJ000017	3	26/05/2017 "Sw	26/05/2017 "Swap a Bottle" scheme	\$244.75		
					\$244.75	\$0.00	
5-6204	Reporting and Liaisons 00000285	2	12/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	phen. Emma	\$36.00		PIWAKA
	00000292	Ы	12/05/2017 Pet	12/05/2017 Petereit, Charmaine	\$32.50		RIWAKA
	EFT	CD	26/05/2017 Ishwara, Sada	wara, Sada	\$40.00		RIWAKA
	Reporting and Liaisons Total				\$108.50	\$0.00	
	TOTAL				\$1,000.00	\$1,000.00	

Page

MYOB / Excel

	Acc	coun	10/07/2016 T	Account Transactions [Accrual]			
	ID No.	Src	Date	Memo/Payee	Debit	Credit	ON NO
4-6010	Mot Community Board Grant						
	Motueka Community Board Grant Total	R	16/09/2016 M	16/09/2016 Motueka Community Board; TDC	4	\$500.00	\$500.00 RIWAKA
3					00'00	00'0000	
4-6101	Motueka NBS Grant	-	24 140 100 40				
	Motueka NBS Grant Total	3	N 12/2010 IN	SIVIZIZOTO MOTUEKA NBS Grant	CO 00	\$500.00	\$500.00 RIWAKA
5-6010	Riwaka Working Bees Control Work					norman	
	00000285	Б	12/05/2017 St	12/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	\$102 50		DIMANA
	00000290	2	12/05/2017 Be	12/05/2017 Beaupere, Marion	\$110.00		RIWAKA
7000							
2 <b>-6</b> 201	NBS Working Bees	i	1				
	0000000	2	Z6/05/2017 Be	26/05/2017 Beaupere, Marion	\$121.00		RIWAKA
	00000311	2	26/05/2017 St	26/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	\$223.25		RIWAKA
	Control Work Total				\$646.75	\$0.00	
5-6202	NBS Working Bees chemicals						
	GJ000017	G	26/05/2017 "S	26/05/2017 "Swap a Bottle" scheme	\$244.75		
					\$244.75	\$0.00	
5-6204	Reporting and Liaisons						
	00000285	S	12/05/2017 St	12/05/2017 Stephen, Emma	\$36.00		RIWAKA
	00000292	2	12/05/2017 Pe	12/05/2017 Petereit, Charmaine	\$32.50		RIWAKA
	EFT	00	26/05/2017 Ishwara, Sada	wara, Sada	\$40.00		RIWAKA
	Reporting and Liaisons Total	1			\$108.50	\$0.00	
	TOTAL				\$1,000.00	\$1,000,00	

Page



### Media Release - SH60 MOTUEKA INVESTIGATION

Motueka Community Board members met with representatives from the New Zealand Transport Agency this week to discuss the findings of their recent Motueka High Street investigations.

The Board agreed with many of the findings and identified problems within the report including the; current pedestrian crossings; variable travel times and congestions along High Street with severe congestion experienced between December and January, and high levels of congestions throughout November to March; access onto High Street from Old Wharf / King Edward Street, Pah and Greenwood Street; poor layout resulting in risk-taking and safety concerns, in particular the right turning on and off of High Street in heavy traffic flows.

In addition the Board highlighted the; demand and importance for car parking on High Street and the limited available "off street" car parking; location of and type of trees adjacent the existing pedestrian crossings and the fact that the current uncontrolled pedestrian access across High Street resulted in a key factor to reducing traffic flow.

In discussing the proposed options the Board proposed a modified Option 3 solution, removing the "right turning bay" into Wallace Street if this could not be achieved without the loss of High Street carparks.

Option 3 provides traffic signals at both Tudor / High and Pah, Greenwood / High intersections with a controlled pedestrian crossing adjacent to the Westpac bank. The Board believe the controlling of pedestrian crossing across High Street will significantly reduce traffic interruption and allow for a better flow. As a Board we have heard strong opposition to the loss of car parks

Attachment 6

Tasman District Council Motueka Community Board Agenda – 18 July 2017

along High Street and so have proposed the removal of the right hand turning bay (from option 3) into

Wallace Street which will result in the retention of key main street car parks. We do however believe that

some realignment on Wallace Street could in fact provide the opportunity to both retain High Street parks

and the right hand turning bay which would then be a win-win.

Board Chair, Brent Maru said, "like it or not High Street is the hub of the town's CBD but is also SH60 and

we believe there is an opportunity for a solution that minimises the loss of car parking whilst also provides

effective solutions to the current challenges in High Street".

The Board also strongly advocates for the installation of round-about at both Old Wharf / King Edward /

High Street all part of the wider solution for High Street as well as the installation of a round-about at

Whakarewa / Woodlands / High Street and the proposed minor improvement for Fearon / Parker / High

Street.

Public submissions are currently being accepted and for further information can be obtained from:

www.nzta.govt.nz/motueka.

**Brent Maru** 

Motueka Community Board

Email: brent.m@sporttasman.org.nz

Mobile: 027 285 975

Page 134 Agenda